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Lindsay Australia is an integrated transport, logistics and rural supply company with a specific focus on servicing major 
customers in the food processing, food services, fresh produce, rural and horticultural sectors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter either as the consolidated entity or as 
the Group) consisting of Lindsay Australia Limited and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. 
 

1. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
The following persons were Directors of Lindsay Australia Limited during the financial year and until the date of this 
report. Directors were in office for the whole of the period unless otherwise stated. 

 
Mr John Frederick Pressler OAM, Chairman-non-executive. Age 72. 

 
Mr Pressler has had a highly successful involvement in the agricultural and horticultural industries for over 40 years, and 
is recognised as one of the industry’s leading participants in both the Bundaberg and Emerald regions.  
 

Mr Pressler was a Non-executive Director of Wide Bay Australia Limited from 1988 to 2013, and Chairman from 1997 to 
2009. Mr Pressler is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  He was awarded the medal of the Order 
of Australia in 2004 for services to the horticultural industry. 
 

Mr Pressler has held no other directorships with other listed companies during the last three years. 

 
Mr Michael Kim Lindsay, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. Age 56. 

 
Mr Lindsay has over 30 years experience in the Australian transportation and rural merchandising industries.  From 1974 
to 1983 he worked for Lindsay Transport, gaining a hands-on knowledge of the transportation industry through an 
involvement in all areas of the Group’s operations. 
 

In 1983 Mr Lindsay established Lindsay Rural, a specialist rural merchandising business with operations in Central and 
South East Queensland. As Managing Director of the Company he was responsible for expanding it from a small local 
operation to a major regional business.  
 
Mr Lindsay has been Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Lindsay Australia since 2002. 

Mr Lindsay has held no other directorships with other listed companies during the last three years. 

 
Mr Richard Andrew Anderson OAM, Non-executive Director. Age 68. 

 
Mr Anderson is a former partner of PriceWaterhouseCoopers having served as the firm’s managing partner in 
Queensland for nine years and also as a member of the firm’s national committee.  
 

Mr Anderson holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Queensland and is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and a Fellow of CPA Australia. 
 

Mr Anderson is the current chairman of Data #3 Limited having been a Director since 1997.  He is also a member of the 
board of Namoi Cotton Cooperative Limited (appointed 2001) and is the current president of the Guide Dogs for the Blind 
Association of Queensland. Mr Anderson was a Director of Villa World Limited from 2006 to 2012. 
 

Mr Anderson was awarded the medal of the Order of Australia in 1997 for services to the Guide Dogs for the Blind 
Association of Queensland and the Queensland Art Gallery Foundation. 

 

Mr Anderson has held no other directorships with other listed companies during the last three years. 

 
Mr Gregory Damien Farrell, Non-executive Director. Age 56. 

 
Mr Farrell is the Managing Director of Mulawa Holdings Pty Limited – a family company with interests in the Australian 
tourism, gaming and road transport industries. 
 
In 1988 Mr Farrell was appointed to the position of Managing Director of Mulawa Holdings following his transfer from the 
IPEC Transport Group. 
 
Whilst at IPEC, Mr Farrell participated in all areas of the business, gaining valuable experience and insight into every 
department.  He held senior positions, including those of Industrial Relations Manager and National Freight Manager and 
was a key member of the IPEC Board of Management. 
 
In 1990 Mulawa Holdings established, and still operates, Cope Transport a significant road transport company operating 
in all States and Territories throughout Australia. 
 
Mr Farrell has a Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of New South Wales and in 1999 successfully 
completed a three-year executive education program at the Harvard Business School. 
 
Mr Farrell has held no other directorships with other listed companies during the last three years. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
Mr Leslie Raymond Hancock, Non-executive Director. Age 63. 

 
Mr Hancock has been a solicitor since 1973, specialising in the areas of employment and industrial relations, and 
commercial and corporate matters. As the Queensland Managing Director of McPherson + Kelley, a national law firm, 
and as the principal of other legal firms he has provided legal advice to the Company for the past 20 years.   
 
Mr Hancock has an in-depth understanding of the commercial aspects of the Group, and has had significant exposure to 
the horticultural industry, representing a number of the industry’s leading growers in Southern and Central Queensland. 
Mr Hancock is currently a Director of the Bundaberg Friendly Society Medical Institute Limited.  He is a fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
 
Mr Hancock has held no other directorships with other listed companies during the last three years. 
 
Mr Graham Johnston, Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer. 

 
Mr Johnston has over 30 years senior management experience in all aspects of finance and administration. 
 
Mr Johnston has held senior positions with a number of ASX listed companies involved in the tourism / leisure, 
development and construction, and retirement village industries. These positions entailed responsibility for financial 
management, accounting, ASX reporting and company secretarial requirements. 
 
Mr Johnston holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Master of Business Administration, and is a Certified Practising 
Accountant.  
 
Committee Membership 

 
As at the date of this report, the Company has an Audit and Risk Committee, an Environmental and Occupational Health 
and Safety Committee, and a Remuneration Committee of the board of Directors.  Membership of the committees is as 
follows: 
 

Audit and Risk Remuneration 
Environmental & Occupational Health 

and Safety 

R A Anderson (Chairman) G D Farrell (Chairman) L R Hancock (Chairman) 

J F Pressler J F Pressler J F Pressler 

L R Hancock R A Anderson R A Anderson  

G D Farrell L R Hancock G D Farrell 

  M K Lindsay 

 
Interests in Shares of the Company 
 

At the date of this report the interests of current Directors in securities of the Company are as follows: 
 

Director Ordinary Shares Director Ordinary Shares 

J F Pressler 2,596,913 G D Farrell 29,714,076 

M K Lindsay 10,441,872 L R Hancock 2,869,215 

R A Anderson 352,314   

 

2. DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED  
 

A final dividend of 0.9 cents per share fully franked has been declared for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
An interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2014 of 1.1 cents per share fully franked (total $2,783,000) was paid on 
31 March 2014. 
 

3. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of activities during the year. The principal activities of the 
consolidated entity during the year were: 
 

 transportation of refrigerated and general freight; and  

 merchandising of rural supplies. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
Employees 
 

The consolidated entity employed 991 full and part-time staff as at 30 June 2014 (2013:916). 
 

4. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
Performance Indicators 
 

Management and the board monitor the consolidated entity’s overall performance against operating plans and financial 
budgets.  The board, together with management, have identified key performance indicators that are used to monitor 
performance on a periodic basis. 
 
Operating Results for the Year 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2014 the Group earned a net profit after tax of $6,497,000.  This result included an after tax 
benefit of $568,000 from the recovery of fuel tax credits that related to prior years.  The result this year compares with 
and after tax profit of $7,181,000 last year.  Last year’s result included an after tax benefit of $1,908,000 from the 
recovery of fuel tax credits. 
 
The after tax profit before and after the impact of these claims is detailed below: 
 

 

 

2014 

$’000 
 

2013 

$’000 

% Increase / 
(Decrease) 

After tax profit before impact of fuel tax claims 5,929  5,273 12.4 

After tax impact of fuel tax credit claims 568  1,908  

After tax profit for year ended 30 June  6,497  7,181 (9.5) 

See Note 6 of Financial statements     

 
Prior to the impact of the fuel tax credit recoveries, underlying profitability of the Group improved 12.4% this financial 
year compared with the previous financial year. 
 
Revenue for the year was $311.1 million, an increase of 9.8% over the previous year with both Transport and Rural 
reporting increased sales. 
 
The operating results for the Group are summarised as follows: 
 

 
2014 

$000’s 
% of Sales 
Revenue 

2013 
$000’s 

% of Sales 
Revenue 

Sales revenue 308,080  279,578  

Other revenue  2,289  3,401  

Interest 765  486  

Total revenue  311,134  283,465  
     

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 27,676 8.9 28,709 10.1 
     

Less (plus)     

 Depreciation and amortisation 14,582 4.7 14,211 5.0 

 Finance costs 4,516 1.5 4,670 1.7 

 Interest received (765) (0.3) (486) (0.2) 

Profit before tax  9,343 3.0 10,314 3.6 

Income tax expense  (2,846) 0.9 (3,133) 1.1 

Profit after tax  6,497 2.1 7,181 2.5 

 
Earnings before interest tax depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) was lower at 8.9% of revenue compared with last 
year of 10.1% of sales revenue.  After adjustment for the impact of the fuel tax credits recoveries EBITDA would have 
been 8.6% of revenue this year compared with 9.1% last year.  
 
Capital expenditure on plant and equipment this financial year of $19.5 million was $2.4 million lower than in 2013. The 
Group has continued its investment in B/double trailer combinations with over 85% of the fleet B/Double combinations.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
Capital expenditure on plant and equipment is forecast to be lower in the 2015 financial year at $16.8 million.  During the 
year the Group also invested in land and buildings of $0.4 million. 
 
Transport 

 
Key operating statistics were: 
 

 2014 
$000’s 

2013 
$000’s 

Total Transport Division sales including inter-segment sales 223,277 200,561 
   

Transport Division profit 18,782 20,514 
   

Transport profit margin percentage 8.4% 10.2% 

 
Transport’s contribution at $18.8 million was $1.7 million below the result achieved in 2013.  Included in the result are 
retrospective fuel tax credits of $1.1 million this year compared with $3.6 million last year.  Without these Transport’s 
Divisional performance would have increased by 5.0% on the prior year.   
 
Sales increased 11.3% with growth of revenue in both company vehicles and subcontractors. Revenue on company 
vehicles increased by 9.6% and revenue using subcontractors increased by 17.4% as a result of: 
 

 increased activity out of Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne and Adelaide; 

 growth from all produce areas other than the Gatton and Victorian country areas; and 

 strong growth out of North Queensland with revenue up by 25%. 
 
The seafood freight volumes continue to be strong. 
 
Revenue growth slowed in May and June with growth in these months reducing to 4.3% over last year. This slowing 
reflects an economy wide trend experienced in these months. 
 
In August 2013 a depot was opened in Mackay North Queensland to further broaden the Division’s geographic reach and 
to facilitate further growth in refrigerated seafood transport. 
 
Revenues from our ten largest customers by value increased by 9.8%.  Our top 10 customers contribute approximately 
43% of Transport revenues. 
 
Strategic alliances with a number of subcontractors have been maintained during the year.  Freight carried on 

subcontractor vehicles was approximately 28% of total revenue compared with 27% last year.  

 

Fleet kilometres travelled during 2014 of approximately 54.1 million increased by 3.6%.  Better capacity utilisation has 

resulted in this increase being lower than the increase achieved in revenue from company vehicles of 9.6%.  The more 

efficient capacity utilisation is a result of two underlying factors: 

 the Group’s continued investment in higher yielding B/Double trailer combinations; and 

 the increase in the average revenue per vehicle movement.   
 

The revenue per kilometre rate, net of fuel costs, grew by 4.8%.  This is one of the key performance indicators used to 

measure capacity utilisation. 

Linehaul labour costs per kilometre increased 9.1% due to rate increases. Other labour costs (administration and pickup 
and delivery drivers), excluding mechanical labour, increased by 13% compared with an overall increase in revenue of 
11.7%.  An enterprise agreement covering our linehaul and pickup and delivery drivers was approved by employees by 
vote in August 2013.  The agreement was not ratified by Fair Work Australia who required additional undertakings to be 
incorporated into the agreement.  A revised agreement is to be submitted to employees for vote.  
 

Vehicle repairs and maintenance costs including mechanical labour increased by 12.3% (11% per kilometre travelled).  
During the 2014 financial year Transport reduced its accident rate resulting in reduced insurance and insurance claims of 
approximately $1.4 million below last year.  Focus remains on the continual improvement of compliance and fatigue 
procedures in addition to health and safety. 
 
Additional in-vehicle tracking, monitoring and communication products are under evaluation. This will allow a significantly 
improved system for fatigue management monitoring. 
 
The carbon tax that was introduced on 1 July 2012 and deferred for road transport to 1 July 2014, has been withdrawn.   
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In early July 2014 the Transport division established Lindsay Fresh Logistics which has leased approximately 5,000 
square metres of refrigerated warehouse floor space in the Brisbane Produce Markets.  An unloading licence and 
transhipping authority has been obtained from the Brisbane Markets.  Unloading and transhipping within the Brisbane 
Produce market is now undertaken for produce from delivered by Transport and third party vehicles.  This function was 
previously carried out by the lessor of the warehouse.  All produce operations of Lindsay Transports Brisbane depot have 
now been relocated to the Brisbane Market facility.  The increase in refrigerated floor area and additional docks have 
improved operational efficiency. 
 
Lindsay Fresh Logistics is developing a number of value added products for its customers which will be implemented in 
the 2015 financial year. 
 
During the 2014 financial year a conditional contract was executed to purchase a site of approximately 22,500 square 
meters in area at Direck on the outskirts of Adelaide. Subject to the conditions of the contract being satisfied it is 
intended that a new Adelaide transport facility will be developed.  This new depot will facilitate further growth in our 
Adelaide revenue and improve operational efficiency. 
 
Rural 

 
Key operating statistics were: 
 

 
2014 

$000’s 
2013 

$000’s 

Total Rural Division sales including inter-segment sales 90,054 84,497 
   

Rural Division profit 5,148 3,516 
   

Rural profit margin percentage 5.7% 4.2% 

 
Sales for the 2014 financial year increased by 6.6% over the previous financial year to $90 million.  Sales growth was 
achieved on all major product categories. Sales in packaging grew by 17%, reversing the fall in sales experienced last 
year, where sales were particularly slow in the first quarter of the financial year as a result of customers buying additional 
cartons in June 2012 prior to price increases becoming effective in July 2012. 
 
Competition from imported cartons as a result of the high Australian dollar during the 2014 and prior financial years 
continues and will be a feature of the Australian horticultural market. 
 
Rural’s Divisional contribution increased by 46% on an improved profit margin percentage and increased sales.  The 
improved results reflect the improved profitability in the first quarter this financial year compared with the previous 
financial year which was impacted by customers purchasing products in June 2012. The increase in Divisional profit for 
the first quarter of the 214 financial year compared with last financial year, was approximately $1.1 million. 
 
Sales for the month of June 2014 were again strong and were over 60% higher than the average monthly sales for the 
other 11 months of the financial year.  
 
Rural continues to focus on customer service, including agronomy in specific regions, which is critical to success for the 
Division. 
 
The success of our low cost start-up model is continuing. We currently have five outlets in this model and subject to 
identifying suitable premises one is expected to transition into full store operations in the 2014 financial year. A low cost 
outlet in Mackay in shared premises with Transport was opened September 2013.  This outlet proved unsuccessful and 
was closed in April 2014.  Low cost start-ups were opened in Bowen and Tully in April 2014. 
 
The restructure of the Victorian operations with four locations consolidated into two, which was undertaken in 2013, has 
improved the performance of this area.  
 
During the year additional distribution agreements with product suppliers were entered into to broaden the product range. 
 
Capital 
 

During the year, share placements of 31,921,429 shares at 28 cents each were made to raise $8,938,000, net of costs 
$8,749,000. 
 

Also during the year 977,267 ordinary shares were issued as a consequence of shareholders reinvesting their dividends 
of $254,000, and 552,970 ordinary shares were issued to Orora Limited in payment of interest of $100,000 on a loan to 
the company. 
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Earnings per Share 
 

Basic earnings per share were 2.8 cents per share compared with 3.3 cents per share last year. 
 
Financial Condition 
 

At 30 June 2014 the consolidated entity’s working capital ratio was 1.29 (2013:1.11) and its net debt to the total of net 
debt and shareholders’ funds (gearing) ratio was 0.46 (2013:0.52).  The ratios reflect the structure of the consolidated 
entity with 87% of the total borrowings used to fund the transport fleet.  The consolidated entity does not have any trucks 
or trailers acquired by the use of operating leases.  The Group at 30 June 2014 had additional un-drawn equipment 
finance facilities of $18.8 million and available bank overdraft of $3.7 million. 
 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The consolidated entity takes a proactive approach to risk management.  The board is responsible for ensuring that risks, 
and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis. 
 

The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives are aligned with the risks 
identified by the board.  These include the following: 
 

 implementation of board approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring of progress against these 
budgets, including the establishment and monitoring of KPIs of both a financial and non-financial nature; and 

 committees to report on specific business risks including, for example, such matters as environmental issues 
and concerns, and occupational health and safety. 

 

6. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 

Other than the share placement that raised approximately $8.75 million there were no significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the Group during the financial year. 
 

7. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
 

The Directors foresee that the 2015 financial year will result in improved profitability.   Potential further acquisitions and 
or expansions for the Rural and Transport Divisions remain a focus.  New customers and additional freight will be 
pursued by Transport.  
 
The Directors consider that total revenue for Financial Year 2015 from existing operations will be approximately $340 
million. 
 
Transport’s focus is to: 

 obtain higher yielding freight, and additional freight revenue in the January to April period of each year; 

 improve capacity utilisation; and 

 maintaining inflation adjusted operating cost structures. 
 
Rural’s focus is to: 

 further expand into North Queensland; 

 increase the sales of by increasing distribution to other retailers; and 

 focus on service and value added products. 
 

Profit for the Group is forecast to increase in FY2015 as a consequence of: 

 increased sales by both Transport and Rural; 

 increased capacity utilisation; and 

 increased sales margins on some selected products. 
 
These projections are subject to uncertainties regarding the price of fuel and the Group’s capacity to recover adverse fuel 
price movements through fuel levies, and the impact of seasonal factors (both positive and negative) that occur within the 
industry sectors in which the Group operates. 
 

8. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 

Other than as disclosed in Note 36 of the financial report and in this Directors’ report, the Directors are not aware of any 
matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year and that has significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in 
subsequent financial years. 
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS 
 
The Group’s operations are subject to the National Greenhouse Energy Reporting Act 2007.  The Group complies with 
this Act.  Other than this Act, the Group’s operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental 
regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.   
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
 

Since the beginning of the financial year up to the date of this report no options over ordinary shares in Lindsay Australia 
Limited have been granted to any person or corporation. 
 
Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options 
 

There were no shares issued pursuant to the exercise of options since the beginning of the financial year up to the date 
of this report. 
 

10. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS  
 

During the financial year the following meetings of Directors and of each board committee were held.  Attendances were: 
 

 

Directors’ Meetings 
Audit and Risk 

Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Environmental & 
Occupational 

Health& Safety 
Committee 

 Held* Attended Held* Attended Held* Attended Held* Attended 

J F Pressler 14 14 3 3 2 2 11 11 

M K Lindsay 14 14 - - - - 11 11 

R A Anderson 14 14 3 3 2 2 11 11 

G D Farrell 14 13 3 3 2 2 11 10 

L R Hancock 14 14 3 3 2 2 11 11 

 
* held during the time the Director was a member of the committee/board. 
 

11. INDEMNITIES 
 

During or since the end of the financial year the Group has not given any indemnity or entered into any agreement to 
indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay insurance premiums in relation to an officer or auditor except as detailed below: 
 

 Lindsay Australia Limited has paid a premium to insure each of the Directors against liabilities for costs and 
expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the 
capacity of Director, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty.  The amount of the premium was 
$21,025. 

 

12. ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 
 

The amounts in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is 
applicable) under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100.  The Company is an entity to 
which the Class Order applies. 
 

13. AUDIT INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
attached to this report. 
 
Non-Audit Services  
 

The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the company and/or the Group are important. 
 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor Pitcher Partners for audit and non-audit services provided during 
the year are set out below. 
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The board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the audit committee, is 
satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Directors are satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services by the 
auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the following reasons: 
 

 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact on the 
impartially and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

 
Pitcher Partners received or is due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services during the 
year ended 30 June 2014: 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Tax compliance services 21,300 20,685 

Other services 7,500 - 

 

14. REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 
The Remuneration Report details the nature and amount of remuneration for non-executive Directors, the executive 
Director and other key management personnel of Lindsay Australia Limited and its controlled entities. 
 
The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings: 
 
A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B Service agreements 
C Details of remuneration paid to key management personnel 
D Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
E Share-based compensation 
F Equity Holdings of Key Management Personnel 
G Loans to Key Management Personnel 
H Additional Information 
 
The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  
 
A PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION  
 
Remuneration Philosophy 
 

It is the Group’s objective to provide maximum shareholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and 
executive team by remunerating Directors and executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment 
market conditions and results delivered. 
 
The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
 

 retention and motivation of Directors and executives (key management personnel); and 

 attraction of quality Directors and executives to the Group. 
 
Remuneration Committee 

 
The board’s Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for 
Directors and executives of the Group.  To assist in achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee takes into 
account the nature and amount of executive Directors’ and officers’ emoluments and the Group’s achieved financial and 
operational performance when determining and reviewing compensation arrangements. 
 
Remuneration Structure 

 
The structure of non-executive Director and senior management remuneration is separate and distinct. 
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A PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (Continued) 

 
Non-executive Director Remuneration  

 
Objective 
 
The board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and 
retain suitably qualified and experienced Directors, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 
 
Structure 
 
The Constitution of the Company and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive 
Directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined 
is then divided between the Directors as agreed. The latest determination was at the General Meeting held on 19 
November 2007 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $450,000 per year. The actual amount paid 
including statutory superannuation during the financial year ended 30 June 2014 was $284,050 (2013: $283,400). 
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought (subject to the approval of shareholders) and the manner in which it is 
apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually. The board considers the fees paid to non-executive Directors of 
comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process.  There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, 
other than statutory superannuation, to non-executive Directors.  No additional fees are paid for board committee 
membership. 
 
Details of the nature and amount of the emolument of each Director of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2014 
and 30 June 2013 are provided later in this report. 
 
Executive Director and other Key Management Personnel Remuneration  
 
Objective 
 
The Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the Group and results achieved. 
 
The executive pay and reward framework has three components: 
 

 base pay and benefits; 

 long-term incentives through participation in the Lindsay Australia Limited Employee Option Plans; and 

 other remuneration such as superannuation and bonuses. 
 
The combination of these comprises the executives’ total remuneration.  
 
Structure 
 
Executives are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety of forms including cash and fringe 
benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be 
optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group.  In the 2014 and 2013 financial years the base 
emolument and non-monetary payments are not dependent upon the satisfaction of any performance conditions. 
 
In relation to the payment of bonuses (other than where a bonus provision is included in an executive service contract), 
options and other incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the board, having regard to the overall performance of 
the Group and the performance of the individual during the period. 
 
The executive Director and other key management personnel have the opportunity for participation in the Employee 
Share Option Plans. The terms and conditions under the plans which regulate the issue of options are: 
 

 total options on issue must not exceed 5% of total shares on issue; 

 the exercise prices and exercise period are determined by Directors; 

 the employee must be employed at the commencement of the exercise period or the options will lapse; 

 during the exercise period the options lapse if an employee resigns or the employee is lawfully terminated; 

 if an employee dies during the exercise period his estate may exercise the options prior to the expiry date; 

 if an employee becomes disabled during the exercise period the employee may exercise the options prior to the 
expiry date;  

 if an employee is made redundant during the exercise period the Directors may specify a period not exceeding 
the expiry date for the employee to exercise the options. 

 
Details of the nature and amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for each key 
management personnel during the years ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 are provided later in this report. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
A PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION (Continued) 
 

The following persons were Directors of Lindsay Australia Limited during the financial year: 
 

Name Position Appointment Date 

J F Pressler Chairman (Non-Executive) 8 January 1997 

M K Lindsay Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 26 November 1996 

R A Anderson Director (Non-Executive) 16 December 2002 

G D Farrell Director (Non-Executive)  17 November 2005 

L R Hancock Director (Non-Executive) 13 September 2002 

 
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year: 
 

Name Position Employer 

A W Bunker Commercial Manager Transport  Lindsay Australia Limited 

G A Johnston Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary Lindsay Australia Limited 

T G Lindsay General Manager Transport Lindsay Australia Limited 

W T Lorenz General Manager Rural Lindsay Australia Limited 

 
All of the above persons were key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2014, except WT Lorenz who 
was appointed on 9 September 2013.  There were no other key management personnel during the current and prior 
year.  
 
Voting and comments made at the company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting 
 

Lindsay Australia received more than 99% of “yes” votes on votes cast by shareholder present or by proxy on its 
remuneration report for the 2013 financial year.  The company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or 
throughout the year on its remuneration practices.  
 
B SERVICE AGREEMENTS  
 

The Group’s policy is that service contracts for key management personnel are unlimited in term but capable of 
termination on four weeks’ notice. The key management personnel are also entitled to receive on termination of 
employment their statutory entitlements of accrued annual and long service leave, together with any superannuation 
benefits.  Compensation levels are reviewed each year to meet the principles of the remuneration policy. 
  
No executive service contract includes any terms that require a bonus payment, other than Wolf Lorenz’s contract which 
requires both short term and long term incentives to be paid after a qualifying period of service which extends to 30 June 
2015.  The Directors may grant a bonus to any employee at their discretion. 
 
C DETAILS OF REMUNERATION PAID TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 

The persons listed are the only persons to have authority and responsibility for the planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of Lindsay Australia Limited and the Group. There are no other executives who are key management 
personnel.  Amounts disclosed for cash salary, fees and superannuation include amounts accrued during the year in 
respect of leave entitlements. Total remuneration expense may vary, as compared to base salary, with the movements in 
annual and long service leave. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
C DETAILS OF REMUNERATION PAID TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (Continued) 
 

 Short-term benefits 
Long-term 

benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Total 

 
Directors’ 

fees 
Cash salary 

and fees 
Bonus 

Non-
monetary 
benefits 

Long service 
leave 

Superannua- 
tion 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-executive Directors 

J F Pressler (Chairman)        

2014 53,560 - - - - 33,840 87,400 

2013 53,560 - - - - 33,640 87,200 

R A Anderson        

2014 60,000 - - - - 5,550 65,550 

2013 60,000 - - - - 5,400 65,400 

G D Farrell        

2014 60,000 - - - - 5,550 65,550 

2013 60,000 - - - - 5,400 65,400 

L R Hancock        

2014 60,000 - - - - 5,550 65,550 

2013 60,000 - - - - 5,400 65,400 

Sub-Total 2014 233,560 - - - - 50,490 284,050 

Sub-Total 2013 233,560 - - - - 49,840 283,400 

 

Executive Director and other key management personnel 

M K Lindsay (Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer) 

2014 - 735,886 - - 41,907 30,085 807,878 

2013 - 609,100 - - 9,278 26,343 644,721 

A W Bunker (Commercial Manager Transport) 

2014 - 210,190 - - 10,942 27,470 248,602 

2013 - 176,249 10,000 - 3,062 25,314 214,625 

G A Johnston (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 

2014 - 319,225 - - 14,458 38,813 372,496 

2013 - 262,598 - - 4,185 26,678 293,461 

T G Lindsay (General Manager Transport) 

2014 - 276,848 - 19,705 4,877 23,580 325,010 

2013 - 287,229 - 19,747 4,881 31,649 343,506 

W T Lorenz (General Manager Rural) Appointed 9 September 2013 

2014 - 291,167 - - - 15,829 306,996 

2013 - - - - - - - 

Total 2014 233,560 1,833,316 - 19,705 72,184 186,267 2,345,032 

Total 2013 233,560 1,335,176 10,000 19,747 21,406 159,824 1,779,713 

 
During the previous year a cash bonus of $10,000 was paid to AW Bunker. There was no performance related 
remuneration paid during the current financial year.  The percentage of performance based remuneration was nil% (2013 
0.5%). 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
D OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 

 
2014 

$ 

Amounts recognised as revenues and expenses:  

Revenues  

Cartage revenue received / receivable from entities associated with GD Farrell 1,431,634 

Sale of equipment 72,667 

  

Expenses  

Fees for legal services provided by entities associated with LR Hancock 68,625 

  

Amounts receivable / payable to key management personnel and their related parties at 
balance date 

 

Current receivables – trade debtors 219,363 

Current payables – trade creditors and accruals  7,671 

 

The Directors believe transactions with key management personnel were on commercial terms and conditions (unless 
otherwise stated).  Current receivables and payables are unsecured, to be settled cash and are on the same terms and 
conditions as non-related parties as disclosed elsewhere in this report. 
 
E SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Options 
 

Options over shares in Lindsay Australia Limited are granted under the Lindsay Australia Limited Employee Share Option 
Plans to provide long term incentives to executives to deliver long-term shareholder returns.  There was no grant of 
options affecting performance in the current, prior or a future reporting period. 
 
F EQUITY HOLDINGS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 
The share and option holdings disclosed for key management personnel are calculated in accordance with AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures.  Accordingly, the holdings for each key management person include holdings of the individual 

(whether held directly, indirectly or beneficially) as well as the holdings of their related parties (whether held directly, 
indirectly or beneficially).  As a result, where key management personnel have related parties in common, the holdings of 
the related parties may be included in the holdings of all relevant key management personnel, i.e. holdings may be 
included more than once in the disclosure. 
 
(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issue on exercise of such options 
 
There were no options provided as remuneration or shares issued on exercise of such options during the 2014 and 2013 
years. 
 
(ii) Option holdings 
 

There were no options held during the 2014 and 2013 financial year by key management personnel of the Group, 
including their personally related parties.  
 
(iii) Share holdings 

 
The number of ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year and prior year by each Director of Lindsay 
Australia Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set 
out below. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued) 
 
F EQUITY HOLDINGS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (Continued) 

 

 2014 Shares 
Balance at 
1 July 2013 

Net change 
 other 

Balance at 
30 June 2014 

 Directors of Lindsay Australia Limited    

 J F Pressler 2,596,913 - 2,596,913 

 M K Lindsay 11,157,559 (715,687) 10,441,872 

 R A Anderson  376,314 - 376,314 

 G D Farrell  29,714,076 - 29,714,076 

 L R Hancock 4,425,620 (1,501,004) 2,924,616 

 Other key management personnel of the Group    

 A W Bunker 379,441 29,493 408,934 

 G A Johnston 568,699 22,386 591,085 

 T G Lindsay 14,880,428 (782,353) 14,098,075 

 W T Lorenz - - - 

 
All equity transactions with Directors and other key management personnel have been entered into under terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.  
 
No shares were granted as remuneration during the last two financial years.  
 
G LOANS TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  

 
There were no loans to key management personnel during the current or prior reporting period. 

 
H ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

The table below shows for the current financial year and previous four financial years the total remuneration cost of the 
key management personnel, earnings per ordinary share (EPS) dividends paid or declared, and the closing price of 
ordinary shares on ASX at year end. 
 

Financial Year 
Total Remuneration 

$ 
EPS 

cents 
Dividends 

cents 
Share Price 

cents 

2010 1,817,094 2.2 1.35 18.5 

2011 1,848,946 0.7 0.7 18.0 

2012 1,747,375 - 0.7 17.0 

2013 1,779,713 3.3 1.9 17.5 

2014 2,345,032 2.8 1.9 34.0 

 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 

 
 
John F Pressler 
Chairman of Directors  
Brisbane, Queensland 
27 August 2014 
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The Directors 
Lindsay Australia Limited 
44b Cambridge Street 
ROCKLEA  QLD  4106 
 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Lindsay Australia Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014, I declare that, to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Lindsay Australia Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

 

PITCHER PARTNERS 
 
 
 
 
R. C. N. Walker 
Partner 
 
Brisbane, Queensland 
27 August 2014 

 
 
 

 



 

Lindsay Australia Limited 2014 
 Annual Report 

Page 17 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT – 30 June 2014 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Financial Statements: 

 

 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

 Consolidated statement of financial position 

 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 Directors’ declaration 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members 

 

These financial statements cover the consolidated financial statements for the consolidated entity consisting of Lindsay 

Australia Limited and its subsidiaries.  The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 

 

Lindsay Australia Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its registered office 

and principal place of business is: 

 

 Lindsay Australia Limited 

 44b Cambridge Street 

 ROCKLEA  QLD  4106 

 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review of 

operations and activities in the Directors’ report which is not part of this financial report. 

 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 27 August 2014.  The Directors have the power to 

amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 

 Note 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Revenues 4 311,134 283,465 

    

Other Income 5 379 651 

    

Expenses    

Changes in inventories 6 1,963 (2,309) 

Purchase of inventories 6 (73,488) (65,577) 

Fuel and oil costs 6 (40,663) (33,585) 

Repairs and maintenance  (13,762) (12,931) 

Subcontractors  (49,429) (41,780) 

Employee benefits expense  (73,434) (65,073) 

Depreciation and amortisation 6 (14,582) (14,211) 

Finance costs  (4,516) (4,670) 

Insurance  (1,537) (1,844) 

Registrations  (3,752) (3,263) 

Pallet charges  (1,867) (1,914) 

Operating lease rentals 6 (5,686) (5,453) 

Professional fees 6 (1,293) (1,910) 

Bad debt expense  195 (30) 

Other expenses  (20,319) (19,252) 

Profit before income tax  9,343 10,314 

Income tax expense 7 (2,846) (3,133) 

Profit for the year 24 6,497 7,181 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  6,497 7,181 

    

  Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 26 2.8 3.3 

Diluted earnings per share 26 2.8 3.3 

 
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 AS AT 30 JUNE 2014 

 Note 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 17,152 9,953 

Trade and other receivables 10 42,565 41,554 

Inventories 11 13,291 10,680 

Other 12 4,854 3,843 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  77,862 66,030 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 25 25 

Property, plant and equipment 14 91,792 87,794 

Intangible assets 16 7,735 7,854 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  99,552 95,673 

TOTAL ASSETS  177,414 161,703 

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 17 26,061 25,024 

Borrowings 18 25,213 25,813 

Current tax liabilities  2,257 1,462 

Provisions 20 5,455 4,975 

Other 21 1,402 2,140 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  60,388 59,414 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Borrowings 18 47,656 43,666 

Deferred tax liabilities 19 2,431 2,689 

Provisions 20 1,133 880 

Other 21 370 449 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  51,590 47,684 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  111,978 107,098 

NET ASSETS  65,436 54,605 

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 22 54,143 45,040 

Reserves 23 491 491 

Retained profits 24 10,802 9,074 

TOTAL EQUITY  65,436 54,605 

    

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 

 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Share based 
payments reserve 

$’000 

Retained 
profits 
$’000 

Total equity 
$’000 

At 1 July 2012         44,631 491 4,087 49,209 

     

Profit for the year - - 7,181 7,181 

Other comprehensive income - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 7,181 7,181 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

   Contributions of equity, net of transactions costs 277 - - 277 

   Dividends reinvested/(paid) during year 132 - (2,194) (2,062) 

At 30 June 2013 45,040 491 9,074 54,605 

     

Profit for the year  - - 6,497 6,497 

Other comprehensive income - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 6,497 6,497 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

   Contributions of equity, net of transactions costs 8,849 - - 8,849 

   Dividends reinvested /(paid) during year  254 - (4,769) (4,515) 

At 30 June 2014 54,143 491 10,802 65,436 

 
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 

 Note 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts in the course of operations  340,486 313,155 

Payments in the course of operations  (316,858) (281,766) 

Interest received  765 486 

Income taxes paid  (2,227) (937) 

Finance costs paid  (4,426) (4,575) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 25(a) 17,740 26,363 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

   

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,859 2,361 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (2,613) (3,604) 

Payments for intangibles  (51) (168) 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (805) (1,411) 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

   

Proceeds from borrowings  6,556 6,184 

Proceeds from share placements   8,938 - 

Share issue transaction costs  (270) - 

Repayment of borrowings  (9,299) (8,574) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (11,830) (10,879) 

Dividends paid  (4,515) (2,062) 

Net cash (used in) financing activities  (10,420) (15,331) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   6,515 9,621 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  9,363 (258) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 9 15,878 9,363 

 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements relate to the 
consolidated entity consisting of Lindsay Australia Limited and its subsidiaries.  
 
Basis of Preparation 
 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.  Lindsay 
Australia Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing financial statements. 
 
Changes in Accounting Standards and Regulatory requirements 
 
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013 and include AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement; and AASB 119 Employee Benefits (September 2011).  The adoption 
of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 13 and AASB 119 and related amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies 
but no adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 
Compliance with IFRS 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Lindsay Australia also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Historical cost convention 

 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through 
profit or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
(a) Principles of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Lindsay Australia Limited 
(“company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2014 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Lindsay 
Australia Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in the financial report as the Group or the consolidated 
entity. 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control.  The group controls an entity 
when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.   The acquisition 
method of accounting is used to account for business combinations of the Group (refer to Note 1(f)). 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group. 
 
(b) Segment reporting 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors. 

 
(c) Revenue recognition  

 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 
net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid.  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows: 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(c) Revenue recognition (Continued) 

 
Revenue from freight cartage and hire and other services is recognised when the services are provided.  Revenue 
from the sale of goods is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred which is taken to 
be upon the delivery of goods to customers. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportional basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 
asset. 
 
(d) Income tax 

 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income adjusted 
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted. 
The tax rate is applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the 
deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition 
of an asset or a liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if 
they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either 
accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively. 
 
(e) Leases 

 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings.  Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 
and finance cost.  The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment 
acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset.  Where there is no 
reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and the assets useful life. 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
(f) Business combinations 

 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises 
the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of 
any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(f) Business combinations (Continued) 

 
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.  Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is 
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The 
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability 
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(g) Impairment of assets 

 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Other assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units). 
 
(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 
 
(i) Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less 
provision for doubtful debts. Trade and other receivables are due for settlement usually no more than 30 to 60 days 
from the date of recognition. 
 
Collectability of trade and other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, which are known to be 
uncollectible, are written off. A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
(j) Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost comprises cost of purchase and, where 
applicable, cost of conversion after deducting trade discounts, rebates and other similar items.  Costs are assigned to 
individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. 

 
(k) Investments and other financial assets 

 

The Group classifies investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading which are acquired principally 
for the purposes of selling in the short term with the intention of making a profit.  Derivatives are also categorised as 
held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
(k) Investments and other financial assets (Continued) 

 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after 
the period end date, which are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in trade and other 
receivables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivates that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  They are included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the period end date.  Investments are 
designated as available-for-sale if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and 
management intends to hold them for the medium or long term. 
 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss.  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value 
and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at 
fair value.  Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  When securities 
classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in profit or loss as gains and losses from investment securities. 
 
The Group assesses at each period end date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired.  If 
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss – is reclassified from equity and recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised 
in profit or loss on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss. 
 
(l) Fair value estimation 

 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the period end date. The quoted market price used 
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities 
is the current ask price. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, 
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.  
 
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 
 
(m) Property, plant and equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(m) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

 
Depreciation of assets is calculated on a diminishing value or straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives.  The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are: 
 

Classification Rate Depreciation Basis 

Buildings 2.5-5% SL 

Leasehold improvements 20-30% SL/DV 

Plant and equipment 8-40% SL/DV 

Leased plant and equipment 8-40% SL/DV 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1(g)). 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
profit or loss. 
 
(n) Intangible assets 

 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets.  Goodwill acquired in business combinations is not amortised.  Instead, goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.  The allocation is made to those 
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in 
which goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments. 
 

Software 
 
Software assets have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of software over its estimated useful lives of 
two to three years.  The line item in profit or loss in which the amortisation of software is included is depreciation and 
amortisation expense. 
 
(o) Trade and other payables 

 

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the year which are 
unpaid. The amounts are usually unsecured (except for Orora – refer Note 17) and paid within 30 to 60 days of 
recognition. 
 
(p) Employee benefits 

 

Short-term obligations 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  

 
The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other 
short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(p) Employee benefits (Continued) 

 
Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
 
The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after 
the end of the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised wholly in the provision for 
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Superannuation 
 
The Group makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds.  Contributions are recognised as an 
expense as they become payable. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Lindsay Australia Limited Employee Share 
Option Plans. 
 
The fair value of options granted under Employee Option Plans is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted, which includes any market performance conditions but excludes the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions 
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. 
 
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that 
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
 
(q) Borrowings 

 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 
(r) Contributed equity 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 
 
(s) Earnings per share 

 
Basic earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the company, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming 
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(t) Dividends 

 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the financial year, but not distributed at balance date. 
 
(u) Financial guarantee contracts 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.  The liability is 
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation, where appropriate. 
 
The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in net cash flows between 
the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, 
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations. 
 
(v) GST 

 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
 

 where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

 for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables. 
 
(w) Rounding of amounts 

 

The company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial report.  Amounts in the financial report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest 
dollar. 
 
(x) New accounting standards and interpretations 
 

Relevant accounting standards and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 
and have not been adopted for the year are as follows: 
 

Standard/Interpretation 
Application date 

of standard 
Application date 

for the Group 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments – revised and consequential amendments to 

other accounting standards resulting from its issue 
1 Jan 2018 1 Jul 2018 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

1 Jan 2014 1 Jul 2014 

AASB 2013-3  Amendments to AASB136 – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

1 Jan 2014 1 Jul 2014 

AASB 2013-5   Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Investment Entities 

1 Jan 2014 1 Jul 2014 

AASB 2014-1 Part A Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 

1 Jul 2014 1 Jul 2014 

Interpretation 21  Levies 1 Jan 2014 1 Jul 2014 

IFRS 15* Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2017 1 Jul 2017 

AASB 2014-4 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

1 Jan 2016 1 Jul 2016 

 
* This IASB Standard was also issued but not yet effective, although the Australian equivalent standard has not yet been issued. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(x) New accounting standards and interpretations 

 
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future years may have the 
following impacts: 
 
AASB 9 – This revised standard provides guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets, which is 
the first phase of a multi-phase project to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  
Under the new guidance, a financial asset is to be measured at amortised cost only if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are payments solely of principal and interest (on the principal amount outstanding).  All other 
financial assets are to be measured at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of investments in equity securities that are 
not part of a trading activity may be reported directly in equity, but upon realisation those accumulated changes in 
value are not recycled to the profit or loss.  Changes in the fair value of all other financial assets carried at fair value 
are reported in the profit or loss. The Group is yet to assess the impact of the new standard. In the second phase of 
the replacement project, the revised standard incorporates amended requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities.  The new requirements pertain to liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
whereby the portion of the change in fair value related to changes in the entity’s own credit risk is presented in other 
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss.   There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial 
liabilities, as the Group does not have any liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  Recent amendments as part of 
the project introduced a new hedge accounting model to simplify hedge accounting requirements and more closely 
align hedge accounting with risk management activities.  There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting, as the 
Group does not utilise hedge accounting. 
 
AASB 2012-3 – This amendment to AASB132 clarifies when an entity has a legally enforceable right to set-off financial 
assets and financial liabilities permitting entities to present balances net on the balance sheet.  There will be no impact 
on the Group’s accounting, as the Group does have any rights to set-off financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
AASB 2013-3 – These amendments introduce additional disclosure requirements where the recoverable amount of 
impaired assets is based on fair value less cost of disposal.   There will be no impact on the Group’s disclosures as the 
Group does not determine the recoverable amounts of impaired asset using fair value less cost of disposal. 
 
AASB 2013-5 – These amendments to AASB10 (and others) define an investment entity and require that, with limited 
exceptions, an investment entity not consolidate its subsidiaries or apply AASB 3 when it obtains control of another 
entity.  Instead, an investment entity is to measure unconsolidated subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with AASB 9.  There will be no impact on the Group as it does not meet the definition of an investment 
entity. 
 
AASB 2014-1 Part A – These amendments introduce various changes to AASBs. There will be no impact on the 
Group. 
 
Interpretation 21 – This interpretation clarifies the circumstances which a liability to pay a levy imposed by a 
government, other than for income taxes and fines/breaches imposed for breaches of legislation, should be 
recognised, and whether that liability should be recognised in full at a specific date or progressively over a period of 
time.  There will be no impact on the Group. 
 
IFRS 15 – This new standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to 
recognising revenue.  The model features a contract-based five step analysis of transactions to determine whether, 
how much and when revenue is recognised.  The Group is yet to assess the impact of the new standard. 
 
AASB 2014-4 – These amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-based 
depreciation/amortisation methods for intangible assets is inappropriate and for property, plant and equipment it 
cannot be used.  There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting as it does not use revenue-based 
depreciation/amortisation methods. 

 
Other than as noted above, the adoption of the various Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations and 
IFRSs on issue but not yet effective will not impact the Group’s accounting policies.  However, the pronouncements 
may result in changes to information currently disclosed in the financial statements.  The Group does not intend to 
adopt any of these pronouncements before their effective dates. 

 
(y) Parent entity financial information 
 

The financial information for the parent entity, Lindsay Australia Limited, disclosed in Note 35 has been prepared on the 
same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(y) Parent entity financial information (Continued) 

 
Investments in subsidiaries 

 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of Lindsay Australia Limited.  

 
Tax Consolidated legislation 
 
Lindsay Australia Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidated 
legislation. 

 
The head entity, Lindsay Australia Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand alone tax payer in its own right.  

 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Lindsay Australia Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group.  
 
The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the whole-owned entities fully compensate 
Lindsay Australia Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Lindsay Australia Limited for any 
current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to 
Lindsay Australia Limited under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the 
amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements. 

 
The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the 
head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require 
payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.  

 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as current 
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 
 
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.  
 
Financial guarantees 
 
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no 
compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost 
of the investment. 
 
(z) General 

 
Lindsay Australia Limited is a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its registered 
office and principal place of business is: 
 
 44b Cambridge Street 
 ROCKLEA QLD 4106 
 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The 
Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These methods include 
sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, and aging analysis for credit 
risk. 
 
Risk management is undertaken by senior management and the board of Directors.  Monthly reports of financial 
assets and financial liabilities including undrawn facilities, analysis and details of significant and/or overdue debtors are 
provided to the board of Directors for review. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
The Group holds the following financial instruments: 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents (1) 17,152 9,953 

Trade and other receivables (1) 42,565 41,554 

Available-for-sale financial assets 25 25 

 59,742 51,532 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables (2) 26,061 25,024 

Borrowings (2) 72,869 69,479 

 98,930 94,503 

 
(1) Loans and receivables category 
(2) Financial liabilities at amortised cost category 
 
Assets pledged as security 

 
Refer to Note 18 for information on assets pledged as security. 
 
(a) Market risk 

 
Foreign exchange risk 
 

The Group does not operate internationally.  The Group purchases approximately $4.3 million (5.7%) (2013 - $3.7 
million (5.5%)) of its inventory from overseas sources in overseas currency.  The Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar, during the interval, 
usually not greater than 90 days, between purchase and settlement.  Selling prices can also be adjusted to cover price 
movements. 
 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date arises from trade payables.  In addition, the Group 
enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge anticipated US$ purchases that have been ordered but not received 
at year end.  The contracts were for a total of US$1,184,000 and EUR147,000 (2013: US$147,000 and EUR nil) and 
had a fair value of negative AU$29,000 at 30 June 2014 (30 June 2013: AU$11,000).   
 
The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange movements at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 is not significant. 

 
Price risk 
 
The Group is exposed to equity security price risk on unlisted available-for-sale financial assets.  The price risk for the 
unlisted securities at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 is not significant. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings, cash and debtors.  Borrowings issued at variable rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk.  During 2014 and 2013, the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in Australian 
Dollars.  The Group’s policy is to fix the rates for plant and equipment purchases at the time of purchase or leasing.  
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than cash and debtors.  The Group charges interest on 
debtor balances that extend beyond agreed terms.  Interest is based on fixed loan rates. 
 
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to variable rate financial instruments such as bank bills 
payable, which are discounted at market rates, the bank overdraft, and other variable rate loans.  The proportion of 
variable rate borrowings to total borrowings of the Group is 8.3% (2013: 8.1%).  The Group monitors its interest rate 
exposure against movements in market interest rates and future interest rate expectations. 
 
No hedging instruments are used. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
(a) Market risk (Continued) 

 
As at the reporting date, the Group had the following financial instruments subject to variable interest rates 
outstanding:  

Weighted average interest rate 

 
2014 

% 
2013 

% 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.7 2.3 17,152 9,953 

 Borrowings     

Bank overdraft 8.5 8.8 1,274 590 

Bank bills 4.4 4.7 2,494 2,804 

Other loans 3.9 4.4 2,250 2,250 

   6,018 5,644 

 
At 30 June 2014, if interest rates had changed by +/-1% from the year-end rates, with all other variables held constant, 
after-tax profit for the year would have been $78,000 lower/higher (2013 – change of 1%: $30,000 lower/higher), 
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense from borrowings and higher/lower interest income from cash and 
cash equivalents. 
 
(b) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with trading 
banks, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions.  For 
customers risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors such as credit reports.  Individual risk limits are set based on credit worthiness and sales 
expectations.  The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by management. The Group has 
significant concentrations of credit risk as detailed below.  The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.  Outstanding receivables in excess of 
$50,000 per customer are reviewed monthly by the board of Directors. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
summarised above. 
 
There are a number of individually significant receivables.  These include Government fuel rebates/subsidies 
receivable (refer Note 10) of $522,000 (2013: $359,000). 
 
At 30 June 2014 the largest 10 debtors comprised approximately 37% (2013: 39%) of total trade debtors (the largest 
individual debtor alone comprised 8% (2013: 9%) of trade debtors). A majority of the trade debtors are involved in the 
rural industry in Queensland, New South Wales, Victoria, and South Australia - approximately 67% (2013: 65%). 
 
At balance date cash was held with the Group’s banker and principal financier Westpac Banking Corporation. 
 
(c) Liquidity risk 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring cash 
flows and the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  Surplus funds are only invested in deposits with 
trading banks.  The Group maintains un-drawn limits on equipment facilities. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 
Financing arrangements 
 
The Group had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date: 

 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Available facilities   

  Bank overdraft 5,000 5,000 

  Bank bills 2,505 2,817 

  Bank loans 3,803 2,233 

  Equipment finance facilities 81,800 70,800 

Amounts utilised   

  Bank overdraft (1,274) (590) 

  Bank bills (at face value) (2,505) (2,817) 

  Bank loans (3,803) (2,233) 

  Bank loans-equipment finance facilities (11,473) (15,473) 

  Other equipment finance facilities (51,575) (46,129) 

Unused facilities 22,478 13,608 

 
Bank overdraft 
 
The bank overdraft facility is subject to annual review, may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank 
without notice.  The interest rate is variable and is based on prevailing market rates. 
 
Bank bills 
 
In the 2015 financial year quarterly principal repayments of $78,000 are required (2014: quarterly payments of 
$78,000). The term of the facility is to October 2016 and is subject to annual review. See also Note 18(a). 
 
Bank loans 
 

Bank loans are generally repayable by monthly instalments of principal and fixed interest over periods of between 12 
months and 5 years.  The facilities are subject to annual review. 
 
Equipment finance facilities  

 
The consolidated entity is able to draw on these facilities for the acquisition of plant and equipment (by way of finance 
lease).  Generally: 
 

 the facilities are subject to periodic review; 

 fixed monthly repayments of principal and interest are arranged over the term of the agreement at the date of 
each draw; and 

 the liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) 

 
Maturities of financial liabilities 
 
The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 
 

 
 
 

Within 1 year 
$’000 

Between 1 and 
2 years 

$’000 

Between 2 and 
5 years 

$’000 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

$’000 

Carrying  
Amount 

liabilities 
$’000 

      

At 30 June 2014      

Non-interest bearing 26,061 - - 26,061 26,061 

Variable rate 1,780 2,743 1,916 6,439 6,018 

Fixed rate 26,783 16,715 30,120 73,618 66,851 

Total 54,624 19,458 32,036 106,118 98,930 

      

At 30 June 2013      

Non-interest bearing 25,024 - - 25,024 25,024 

Variable rate 1,128 2,663 2,350 6,141 5,644 

Fixed rate 28,283 16,778 25,863 70,924 63,835 

Total 54,435 19,441 28,213 102,089 94,503 

 
(d) Fair value estimation 

 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 
 
The Group has no significant financial assets or liabilities measured and recognised at fair value in the financial 
statements at year end. 
 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.   
 
The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including lease liabilities approximate their carrying 
amounts.  
 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

 
Estimated impairment of goodwill 
 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in Note 1(n).  The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value-in-use 
calculations.  These calculations require the use of assumptions.  Refer to Note 16 for details of these assumptions. 
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2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

4. REVENUES   

Sales revenue   

Freight cartage  218,796 196,028 

Sale of goods 89,284 83,550 

 308,080 279,578 

Other revenue   

Insurance recoveries 372 954 

Rents and sub-lease rentals 206 231 

Interest 765 486 

Other 1,711 2,216 

 311,134 283,465 

 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

5. OTHER INCOME   

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  379 651 

 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

6. EXPENSES   

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:   

Cost of goods sold 71,525 67,886 
   

Fuel and oil costs   

During the year the Group made claims for additional fuel tax credits 
principally in respect of diesel used in operation of fridge motors on 
refrigerated trailers dating back to 1 July 2006.  The fuel tax credits were 
accounted for as a reduction of fuel and oil costs.  In determining the claims 
for the additional fuel tax credits the Group incurred professional fees. 

  

 Fuel and oil  41,745 37,235 

 Fuel tax credit claims- July 2006 to September 2012 (1,082) (3,650) 

Total fuel and oil costs 40,663 33,585 
   

Professional fees   

 Professional fees incurred in respect of the fuel tax credit claim 271 925 

 Other professional fees 1,022 985 

Total professional fees 1,293 1,910 
   

Depreciation   

 Freehold buildings 41 39 

 Plant and equipment 6,970 7,221 

 Leasehold improvements 14 16 

Amortisation   

 Plant and equipment under finance lease 7,387 6,705 

 Computer software 170 230 

Total depreciation and amortisation 14,582 14,211 
   

Defined contribution superannuation expense 4,328 3,657 

Impairment losses – trade receivables and loan receivables (182) 30 

Impairment losses – inventory 28 (48) 

Rental expenses relating to operating leases   

 Minimum lease payments 5,686 5,453 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

7. INCOME TAX   

(a) Income tax expense    

Current tax 2,990 2,532 

Deferred tax (151) 601 

Under (over) provision in prior years 7 - 

 2,846 3,133 

Deferred tax is attributable to:   

(Increase) decrease in deferred tax assets (Note 15) (147) 611 

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (Note 19) (4) (10) 

 (151) 601 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   

Profit before income tax 9,343 10,314 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2013: 30%) 2,803 3,094 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable 
income: 

  

Sundry items 36 39 

 2,839 3,133 

Under (over) provision in prior years 7 - 

Income tax expense  2,846 3,133 

(c) Tax losses   

Unused tax losses for which deferred tax assets have not been recognised at 30% 263 273 

All unused and unrecognised tax losses were incurred by Australian entities and comprise capital losses. 
 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

8. FRANKING CREDITS / DIVIDENDS   

Franking credits   

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 
30%       (2013: 30%) 

2,443 1,465 

 
The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for: 
 
(i) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax; 
(ii) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and 
(iii) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.  

 
The impact on the franking account of the dividend recommended by the Directors since year end, but not recognised 
as a liability at year end, will be a reduction in the franking account of $870,000 (2013 - $851,000). 
 

Dividends paid   

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2014 of 1.1 cents per share fully franked 
(at 30%) paid in full on 31 March 2014. (2013: 0.5 cents per share fully franked (at 
30%) paid in full on 28 March 2013 and 0.5 cents per share fully franked (at 30%) 
paid in full on 30 November 2012). 2,783 2,194 

   

Interim dividends paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of shares under the dividend 
re-investment plan during the years ended 30 June 2014 and 2013 were as follows: 

  

   

Paid in cash 2,650 2,062 

Satisfied by issue of shares 133 132 

 2,783 2,194 

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 of 0.9 cents per share fully franked 
(at 30%) paid in full on 30 September 2013.  There was no final dividend paid for the 
year ended 30 June 2012.   1,985 - 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 
$’000 

8. FRANKING CREDITS / DIVIDENDS (Continued)   

Final dividend out of prior year’s profits paid in cash or satisfied by the issue of 
shares under the dividend re-investment plan during the years ended 30 June 2013 
and 2012 were as follows:  

  

Paid in cash 1,865 - 

Satisfied by issue of shares 121 - 

 1,986 - 

Dividends not recognised at year end   

In addition to the above dividends, since year end the Directors have recommended 
the payment of a final dividend of 0.9 cents per share fully franked fully franked 
based on tax paid at 30% (2013:  0.9 cents per share).   2,284 1,985 

 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 
$’000 

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

Cash at bank and on hand 17,152 9,953 

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement 
of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows: 

  

Cash and cash equivalents 17,152 9,953 

Bank overdrafts (1,274) (590) 

 15,878 9,363 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 2. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Current   

Trade receivables 41,096 40,175 

Provision for impairment of receivables (76) (258) 

 41,020 39,917 

Fuel rebates/subsidies 522 359 

Future GST recoverable 502 538 

Other receivables 521 740 

 42,565 41,554 

 
Trade and other receivables are generally unsecured, non-interest bearing and due 30 to 60 days from date of 
recognition, except as otherwise noted.   
 
Other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. 
 
(a) Impaired trade receivables 

 
As at 30 June 2014 current trade receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $84,000 (2013 - $284,000) were 
impaired.  The amount of the provision was $76,000 (2013 - $258,000).  The GST component of the receivables is not 
considered impaired as this is refundable.  The majority of the individually impaired receivables relate mainly to 
customers in the rural industry sector who are experiencing difficulties as a result of seasonal factors. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

1 to 2 months 7 63 

3 to 4 months 6 14 

Over 4 months 63 181 

 76 258 
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 
 
The ageing of these receivables is as follows: 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:   

At 1 July 258 236 

Provision for impairment recognised/(reversed) during the year (170) 118 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (12) (96) 

At 30 June 76 258 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in “bad debt expense” in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there 
is no expectation of recovering additional cash. 
 
(b) Past due but not impaired 

 

As of 30 June 2014 trade receivables of $11,061,000 (2013 - $10,693,000) were past due but not impaired.  These 
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.  The ageing history of 
these trade receivables is as follows: 
 

 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

  1 to 2 months 9,435 9,576 

  3 months 554 507 

  Greater than 3 months 1,072 610 

 11,061 10,693 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  Based on 
the credit history of these classes it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.  Of the past due but not 
impaired receivables approximately 78% (2013: 83%) have been received within one month of end of year.  The 
Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables. 

 
(c) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk 
 

There are no receivables denominated in foreign currencies.  No interest is charged on trade debtors except for certain 
debtors who pay late and are charged interest at rates between 1% and 1.5% per month by agreement. 
 
(d) Fair value and credit risk 

 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivable mentioned 
above.  Refer Note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and on the credit quality of the 
entity’s trade receivables. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

11. INVENTORIES   

Raw materials and stores – at cost 2,565 1,917 

Finished goods – at cost 10,954 8,964 

 13,519 10,881 

Provision for obsolescence (228) (201) 

 13,291 10,680 

Of the above inventory, raw materials and stores are expensed and not charged to cost of sales. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS   

Prepayments 4,854 3,843 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

13. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS   

Unlisted equity securities 25 25 

Unlisted equity securities are traded in inactive markets.   
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

Freehold Land and Buildings   

Land - at cost 2,394 2,043 

Buildings - at cost 1,588 1,588 

Accumulated depreciation (166) (125) 

 3,816 3,506 

Leasehold Improvements   

At cost 595 595 

Accumulated depreciation (224) (210) 

Total leasehold improvements 371 385 

Total property 4,187 3,891 

Plant and Equipment   

Plant and equipment   

At cost 101,615 93,759 

Accumulated depreciation (73,411) (63,761) 

 28,204 29,998 

Plant and equipment under finance lease   

At cost 79,451 74,778 

Accumulated amortisation (20,050) (20,873) 

 59,401 53,905 

Total plant and equipment 87,605 83,903 

Total property, plant and equipment 91,792 87,794 

 
Movements in carrying amounts 

 
Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are shown below. 

 

 
Freehold 

Land Buildings 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments 

Plant & 
Equipmen

t 

Plant & 
Equipment Under 

Finance Lease Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2012 

804 1,189 401 33,201 44,319 79,914 

Additions  1,239 313 - 2,052 19,891 23,495 

Disposals - - - (954) (680) (1,634) 

Transfer from lease - - - 2,920 (2,920) - 

Depreciation/amortisation - (39) (16) (7,221) (6,705) (13,981) 

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2013 

2,043 1,463 385 29,998 53,905 87,794 

Additions  351 - - 2,262 17,277 19,890 

Disposals - - - (847) (633) (1,480) 

Transfer from lease - - - 3,761 (3,761) - 

Depreciation/amortisation - (41) (14) (6,970) (7,387) (14,412) 

Carrying amount at 30 
June 2014 

2,394 1,422 371 28,204 59,401 91,792 

Assets pledged as security. Refer to Note 18 for information on assets pledged as security. 
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 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

15. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS   

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   

Impaired receivables 23 77 

Employee benefits 1,977 1,757 

Depreciation and amortisation 83 91 

Payables 341 310 

 2,424 2,235 

Other   

Stock obsolescence 15 15 

Sundry items 121 56 

 136 71 

Total deferred tax assets 2,560 2,306 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (refer Note 19) 2,560 (2,306) 

Net deferred tax assets - - 

 

Movements 

Tax 
losses 
$’000 

Employe
e 

Benefits
$’000 

Impaired 
receivabl

es 
$’000 

Deprec 
and 

amort 
$’000 

Payables 
$’000 

Other 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 30 June 2012 503 1,595 296 116 337 70 2,917 

(Charged) /credited to profit 
or loss 

(483) 162 (219) (25) (27) (19) (611) 

Over provision in prior years (20) - - - - 20 - 

At 30 June 2013 - 1,757 77 91 310 71 2,306 

(Charged) /credited to profit 
or loss 

(26) 220 (54) (8) 31 (16) 147 

Credited to equity - - - - - 81 81 

Over provision  26 - - - - - 26 

At 30 June 2014 - 1,977 23 83 341 136 2,560 

 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

Computer software  2,164 2,124 

Accumulated amortisation (1,990) (1,831) 

 174 293 

Goodwill 11,138 11,138 

Accumulated impairment (3,577) (3,577) 

 7,561 7,561 

Total intangible assets 7,735 7,854 

 
(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
 

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible asset are shown below. 
 

 

Computer 
Software 
$’000 

Goodwill 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2012 356 7,561 7,917 

Additions – acquired separately 167 - 167 

Amortisation (230) - (230) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2013 293 7,561 7,854 
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 
 

 

Computer 
Software 
$’000 

Goodwill 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Additions – acquired separately 51 - 51 

Amortisation (170) - (170) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2014 174 7,561 7,735 

 
(b) Impairment tests for goodwill 
 

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the business segments.  
The carrying amount of goodwill is attributable to the Rural segment. 
 
The recoverable amount of the Rural CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations.  These calculations 
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five year period. 
 
(c) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations 
 

 Gross margin * Growth rate ** Discount rate*** 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 % % % % % % 

Rural CGU 18.4 17.5 3.5 3.5 9.4 8.9 

 
* Budgeted gross margin 
** Weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period 
*** In performing the value-in-use calculations for the Rural CGU, the company has applied pre-tax discount rates to 
discount the forecast future attributable pre-tax cash flows 
 
Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of future margins.  
The pre-tax discount rates used reflect the weighted average cost of capital of the Group.  The discount rate has 
increased reflecting a change in weighting between equity and debt used in calculating the cost of capital.  The future 
growth rates are based on management’s estimate of both price and volume increases for product lines incorporating 
seasonal variations and other economic factors in each of the geographic areas in which the CGU operates.   
 
(d) Impact of possible changes in key assumptions 

 

The recoverable amount of the Rural CGU net assets is estimated at $24.3 million.  This exceeds the carrying value of 
the CGU net assets by $4.5 million.  A reduction in the gross margin from 18.4% to 17.4% would reduce the estimated 
recoverable amount to $16.0 million and result in an impairment of Goodwill of $3.8 million.  A reduction in growth rate 
from 3.5% to 2.5% would reduce the estimated recoverable amount to $23.6 million and result in no impairment of 
Goodwill.  An increase in the discount rate from 9.4% to 10.4% would reduce the estimated recoverable amount to 
$21.9 million and result in no impairment of Goodwill. 
 
(e) Assets pledged as security 
 

Refer to Note 18 for information on current assets pledged as security. 
 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   

Trade payables 26,061 25,024 

A major supplier, Orora Limited, has a registered charge over the assets of Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd up to a maximum 
amount of $3,200,000 (2013: $3,200,000).  At balance date the amount payable to Orora Limited was $2,670,000 
(2013: $2,408,000). 
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 2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

18. BORROWINGS   

Current   

Secured   

Bank overdraft 1,274 590 

Bills payable 311 311 

Lease liabilities 11,519 13,642 

Bank loans 12,109 11,270 

Total secured current borrowings 25,213 25,813 
   

Non-current   

Secured    

Bills payable 2,183 2,493 

Lease liabilities 40,056 32,487 

Bank loans 3,167 6,436 

Total secured non-current borrowings 45,406 41,416 
   

Unsecured    

Other loans 2,250 2,250 

Total unsecured non-current borrowings 2,250 2,250 
   

Total non-current borrowings 47,656 43,666 

 
(a) Bank overdraft, bills payable and bank loans 
 

The bank overdraft, bills payable and bank loans are secured by guarantees by all companies in the consolidated entity 
supported by mortgages over all the consolidated entity’s property and other assets. 
 
The bills payable are a revolving line of credit and are to reduce by $78,000 per quarter. Last year bills payable reduced 
by $78,000 per quarter.  The face value of bills drawn at 30 June 2014 was $2,505,000 (2013: $2,817,000).   
 
The allocation between current and non-current is as follows: 
 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Current   

Face value 312 312 

Less discount (1) (1) 

 311 311 

Non-current   

Face value 2,193 2,505 

Less discount (10) (12) 

 2,183 2,493 

 
(b) Lease liabilities 
 

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.  
Certain of the lease liabilities are also secured by guarantees by entities in the consolidated entity, as well as by 
mortgages/charges over the property and other assets. 

 
(c) Other loans 
 

Other loans consist mainly of a loan from Orora Limited (Orora) which was provided in 2009 pursuant to a Distribution 
Agreement.  The interest rate payable on the loan is the 90 day bank bill rate plus 1.0% per annum.  The loan is due to 
be repaid in full (if not extended) on or by 30 June 2016.  Interest on this loan may be paid at the Group’s option by 
way of shares in the company based on the volume weighted average price of Lindsay Australia Limited’s shares for 
twenty business days prior to issue of notice to Orora of payment of interest by way of shares.  Refer Note 33 for 
further details. 
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18. BORROWINGS (Continued) 
 
(d) Assets pledged as security 
 

All the assets of the consolidated entity are pledged as security for the facilities as noted above. 
 
(e) Fair value 

 

Information about the Group’s fair value of borrowings is provided in Note 2. 
 
(f) Risk exposure 

 

Information about the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings is provided in Note 2. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

19. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES   

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   

Prepayments 885 807 

Inventories 769 566 

Depreciation and amortisation 3,337 3,622 

Total deferred tax liabilities 4,991 4,995 

Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provisions (refer Note 15) (2,560) (2,306) 

Net deferred tax liabilities 2,431 2,689 

 

Movements 
Prepayments 

$’000 
Inventories 

$’000 

Depreciation 
& 

Amortisation 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Consolidated     

At 30 June 2012 774 472 3,759 5,005 

Charged /(credited) to profit or loss 33 94 (137) (10) 

At 30 June 2013 807 566 3,622 4,995 

Charged /(credited) to profit or loss 78 203 (285) (4) 

At 30 June 2014 885 769 3,337 4,991 

 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

20. PROVISIONS   

Current   

Employee benefits 5,455 4,975 

Non-current   

Employee benefits 1,133 880 

 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

21. OTHER LIABILITIES   

Current   

Deferred revenue  1,275 2,015 

Other  127 125 

 1,402 2,140 

Non-current   

Other  370 449 

Deferred revenue comprises monies paid in advance of delivery of goods or services. 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 
$’000 

22. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY    

Fully paid ordinary shares 54,143 45,040 

 
Effective 1 July 1998 the corporations legislation in place abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value 
shares.  Accordingly, the parent does not have authorised capital nor par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
The movement in fully paid ordinary shares for 2013 and 2014 is reconciled as follows: 
 

 Note No of Shares Issue Price $’000 

Balance at 30 June 2012  217,573,581 - 44,631 

Issue of shares pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (a) 390,786 16.15¢ 63 

Issue of shares pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (a) 363,068 19.00¢ 69 

Issue of shares for payment of interest (b) 790,899 17.20¢ 136 

Issue of shares for sign on fees (c) 899,308 15.67¢ 141 

Balance at 30 June 2013  220,017,642  45,040 

Issue of shares pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (a) 551,587 21.85¢ 121 

Issue of shares pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (a) 425,680 31.35¢ 133 

Issue of shares for payment of interest (b) 552,970 18.05¢ 100 

Placement of shares (d) 31,921,429 28.00¢ 8,938 

Share issue transaction costs net of tax benefits (d) -  (189) 

Balance at 30 June 2014  253,469,308  54,143 

 
(a) Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

 

The company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have 
all or part of their dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid in cash.  
Shares are issued under the plan at a discount as determined by the Directors but no more than 5% to the market 
price.  
 
Issues pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan are: 
 

Date Number of Shares Issue Price 

31 March 2014 425,680 31.35 cents 

30 September 2013 551,587 21.85 cents 

28 March 2013 363,068 19.00 cents 

30 November 2012 390,786 16.15 cents 

 
(b) Shares issued in payment of interest 

 

Shares were issued to Orora Limited pursuant to the Distribution Agreement on interest owing on a loan of 
$2,250,000. Refer Note 29 and 33 for further information. 
 
(c) Shares issues pursuant to Customer’s Supply Agreements 

 
Shares were issued to a number of customers pursuant to the Customer Supply Agreements on execution of a long 
term supply contract. Refer Note 29 for further information. 
 
(d) Placement shares 

 

A placement of 31,929,429 ordinary shares was made to institutional and sophisticated investors at 28 cents per share 
fully paid to raise $8,938,000 cash on 14 March 2014. 
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22. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued) 
 
(e) Ordinary shares 
 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.  On a show of hands every holder of ordinary 
shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one 
vote. 
 
(f) Capital risk management 
 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as going concern, so that they 
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a cost effective 
cost of capital.  
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
issue new shares, raise or retire debt finance or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.  This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by net debt 
and total equity.  Net debt is calculated as total interest bearing borrowings as shown in the statement of financial 
position less cash and cash equivalents.  During the year ended 30 June 2014 the Group did not alter its capital 
management policy. 
 
The gearing ratios at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 were as follows: 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Total borrowings  72,869 69,479 

Less cash and cash equivalents (17,152) (9,953) 

Net debt 55,717 59,526 

Total equity 65,436 54,605 

   

Gearing ratio 46% 52% 

 
Lindsay Australia Limited has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing facilities during the 2014 and 2013 
reporting periods. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

23. RESERVES    

Share-based payments reserve 491 491 

 
There were no movements in the share-based payments reserve in 2013 and 2014. 
 
Nature and purposes of reserve 

 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued to employees. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

24. RETAINED PROFITS   

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 9,074 4,087 

Profit for the year 6,497 7,181 

Dividends paid or provided (4,769) (2,194) 

Retained earnings at the end of the year 10,802 9,074 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

25. CASH FLOW INFORMATION   

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Profit for the 
Year 

  

Profit for the year 6,497 7,181 

Depreciation/amortisation 14,582 14,211 

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (379) (651) 

Non-cash interest expense payment by issue of shares 100 136 

Non-cash sign on expense payment by issue of shares - 141 

Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities 2 (5) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (1,011) (2,175) 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and other assets (1,011) (906) 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,611) 1,918 

(Increase)/decrease in tax assets  (174) 744 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 1,037 3,033 

(Decrease)/increase in tax liabilities  791 1,452 

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities (817) 746 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions 734 538 

Cash flows from operating activities 17,740 26,363 
   

(b) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities   

Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of finance leases  17,277 19,891 

Dividends satisfied by issue of shares 254 132 

Interest satisfied by issue of shares 100 136 

Sign on fees satisfied by the issue of shares - 141 

 

 
2014 

¢ 
2013 

¢ 

26. EARNINGS PER SHARE   

Basic earnings per share 2.8 3.3 

Diluted earnings per share 2.8 3.3 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share – net profit 6,497 7,181 

 
Number of 

Shares 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings per share 

230,537,561 219,375,434 

 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

27. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION   

During the year the auditor of the parent entity earned the following remuneration:   

Audit or review of financial reports  135,000 133,500 

Taxation and other services 28,800 20,685 

Total remuneration 163,800 154,185 

There was no other remuneration paid to related practices of the auditor. 
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28. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Key management personnel compensation 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 2,086,581 1,598,483 

Long-term employee benefits 72,184 21,406 

Post-employment benefits 186,267 159,824 

 2,345,032 1,779,713 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report. 
 
(b) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel 
 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Amounts recognised as revenues and expenses:   

Revenues   

Cartage revenue received / receivable  1,431,634 1,572,293 

Sale of equipment 72,667 - 
   

Expenses   

Fees for legal services provided  68,625 105,348 
 

  

Amounts receivable / payable to key management personnel and their 
related parties at balance date 

  

Current receivables – trade debtors 219,363 231,391 

Current payables – trade creditors and accruals  7,671 - 

The Directors believe transactions with key management personnel were on commercial terms and conditions (unless 
otherwise stated).  Current receivables and payables are unsecured, to be settled cash and are on the same terms 
and conditions as non-related parties as disclosed elsewhere in this report. 
 
(c) Loans to key management personnel  

 
There were no loans to key management personnel during the current or prior reporting period. 
 

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
(a) Tax Exempt Share Acquisition Plan 
 

The establishment of the Tax Exempt Share Acquisition Plan was approved by shareholders on 5 November 2004. 
Participation in the plan is open to all employees. The company however does not intend to make any offers under this 
plan to Directors or senior executives. The plan is in accordance with the Employee Share Scheme provisions of 
Division 13A of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, which allows the issue of up to a maximum of $1,000 worth of 
shares to employees which will be tax exempt for the employees. It is expected that shares will be issued for no 
consideration. Offers under the plan must be made to at least 75% of full time and long term part time employees. 
There have been no shares issued pursuant to the plan since its approval. 
 
(b) Employee Share Option Plans 

 
Employees eligible to participate in the plans are generally those of manager level and above (including executive 
Directors) who are designated by Directors.  Options are granted under the plan for no consideration.  The exercise 
price which is payable in cash will be the amount specified by Directors at the time of issue. The exercise period is the 
period specified by Directors at the time of issue.  The options vest based on service or performance criteria as 
specified by Directors.  Options issued under the plans may not exceed 5% of the total number of issued shares of the 
company at the date of issue. 
 
Options lapse if prior to or during the exercise period the employee is terminated or resigns.  If a person dies, becomes 
disabled, or is made redundant prior to the exercise period the option lapses.  If a person dies, becomes disabled or is 
made redundant during the exercise period special rules apply that allow options to be exercised.  Options granted 
under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.  When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share 
of Lindsay Australia Limited.  Amounts receivable on the exercise of options are recognised as share capital. The 
exercise period of the options was between the vest date and expiry date. 
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 
 
There were no options on issue for the 2014 and 2013 financial year. 
 
(c) Shares issued in payment of interest 

 

The company has an option pursuant to a Distribution Agreement (see Note 33) to elect to pay interest in lieu of cash 
by the issue of shares in  the company based on the volume weighted average price for the 20 consecutive trading 
days immediately prior to the date of notice to Amcor of payment of interest by way of shares.  The fair value of the 
interest paid by the issue of shares is expensed in the accounts in the current year with the shares issued on the first 
business day after the end of the financial year. 
 
(d) Shares issued in payment of sign on fees 

 

Customers pursuant to Customer Supply Agreements had an option to receive shares in the company in lieu of cash 
as payment for sign on fees. The share price is the average of the closing price for the five days prior to signing the 
agreement. The fair value of the services (sign on fees) paid by the issue of shares is expensed in the accounts with 
the shares issued on the date of execution by the company of the Customer Supply Agreement.  
 
(e) Expense arising from share based payment transactions 
 

There was no expense arising from employee share-based payment transactions recognised during the year end 30 
June 2014 and the prior financial year.  During the year a liability for interest expense was recognised for $88,000 
(2013 $100,000) in respect to a loan provided by Orora.  This liability will be discharged by the issue of shares in the 
next financial year.  Shares for $100,000 (2013 $136,000) were issued during 2014 financial year.  An expense was 
recognised for sign on fees of $ nil (2013 $146,000). 
 

30. SUBSIDIARIES 
 

The Group consists of the ultimate parent entity Lindsay Australia Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Set out 
below are the names of the subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated financial statements shown in this 
report.  All entities were incorporated in Australia. 
 

 Class Shares/Units Equity Holding % 

Name  2014 2013 

Lindsay Brothers Holdings Pty Ltd (a), (d) Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd (a), (d) Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Brothers Management Pty Ltd (a), (d) Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Brothers Fuel Services Pty Ltd (a) Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Brothers Hire Pty Ltd (a) Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Brothers Plant & Equipment Pty Ltd (a) Ordinary 100 100 

P & H Produce Pty Ltd Ordinary 100 100 

P & H Produce Trust Ordinary 100 100 

Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd (b), (d) Ordinary 100 100 

 Skinner Rural Pty Ltd (c), (d) Ordinary 100 100 

 Croptec Fertilizer and Seeds Pty Ltd (c) Ordinary 100 100 

 Lindsay Fresh Logistics Pty Ltd (e) Ordinary 100 - 

 
a) Lindsay Brothers Holdings Pty Ltd (LBH) is the parent entity of Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers 

Management Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers Fuel Services Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers Hire Pty Ltd, and Lindsay 
Brothers Plant and Equipment Pty Ltd.  Accordingly, the parent entity’s interest in these entities (other than LBH) 
is indirect.  
 

b) Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd is 50% owned by P&H Produce Trust and 50% owned by the parent entity. 
 
c) These companies are subsidiaries of Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd. 
 
d) These subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with 

Class Order 98/1418 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.  For further information 
refer to Note 32. 

 
e) Incorporated by the Group in the 2014 year. 
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

Description of segments 
 

The Group has identified the following reporting segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by 
the Board of Directors (chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources: 
 

 Transport – Cartage of general and refrigerated products and ancillary sales, and 

 Rural – Sale and distribution of a range of agricultural supply products. 
 

The segments are determined by the type of product or service provided to customers and the operating 
characteristics of each segment.  The Group operated in these business segments for the whole of the 2014 and 2013 
years. All Group revenue is derived from customers within Australia. 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting segments 
 
Accounting policies adopted 
 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as chief decision maker with respect to operating 
segments are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual 
financial statements of the Group. 
 
The Group does not allocate assets or liabilities to each segment because management does not include this 
information in its measurement of the performance of the operating segments. 
 
Inter-segment transactions 

 
An internally determined transfer price is set for all inter-entity sales.  All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation 
for the Group’s financial statements.  Some corporate charges are allocated to reporting segments based on the 
segments’ overall proportion of usage within the Group. 
 
Unallocated items 
 
The following items of revenue and expense are not allocated to operating segments as they are not considered part 
of the core operations of any segment: 
 

 interest received; 

 borrowing costs; 

 corporate costs including bad debt expense; and 

 income tax expense. 
 
Major customers 
 
No customer of the Group account for more than 10% of external revenue (2013: nil).  The largest individual customer 
accounts for 9.1% of external revenues (2013: 9.2%). 
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 
 

 
Transport

$’000 
Rural 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

2014    

Revenue    

External sales 218,798 89,282 308,080 

Inter-segment sales 3,088 406 3,494 

Other revenue 1,391 366 1,757 

Other income 403 (24) 379 

Total segment revenue/income 223,680 90,030 313,710 

Reconciliation of segment revenue/income to group revenue/income    

Inter-segment elimination   (3,494) 

Interest revenue   765 

Corporate/unallocated revenue   532 

Total revenue/income   311,513 

Segment net profit before tax   18,782 5,148 23,930 

Reconciliation of segment profit to group net profit before tax    

Corporate/unallocated    (10,071) 

Finance costs   (4,516) 

Net profit before income tax   9,343 

Income tax expense   (2,846) 

Profit for year   6,497 
    

Depreciation and amortisation 13,993 123 14,116 

Corporate/unallocated cost   466 

   14,582 

2013    

Revenue    

External sales 196,034 83,544 279,578 

Inter-segment sales 2,605 379 2,984 

Other revenue 1,922 574 2,496 

Other income 645 6 651 

Total segment revenue/income 201,206 84,503 285,709 

Reconciliation of segment revenue/income to group revenue/income    

Inter-segment elimination   (2,984) 

Interest revenue   486 

Corporate/unallocated revenue   905 

Total revenue/income   284,116 

Segment net profit before tax 20,514 3,516 24,030 

Reconciliation of segment profit to group net profit before tax    

Corporate/unallocated    (9,046) 

Finance costs   (4,670) 

Net profit before income tax   10,314 

Income tax expense   (3,133) 

Profit for year   7,181 
    

Depreciation and amortisation 13,581 159 13,740 

Corporate/unallocated cost   471 

   14,211 
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32. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 
 
Lindsay Australia Limited, Lindsay Brothers Holdings Pty Ltd, Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers 
Management Pty Ltd, Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd, and Skinner Rural Pty Ltd are parties to a deed of cross guarantee 
under which each company guarantees the debts of the others.  By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities 
have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under Class Order 
98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.  This deed of cross 
guarantee was entered into during the 2006 financial year and an amendment to join Skinner Rural Pty Ltd as a 
party to the deed was entered into during the 2008 financial year. 
 
(a) Consolidated statement of comprehensive income and a summary of movements in consolidated retained 

earnings/accumulated losses 
 

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other 
parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by Lindsay Australia Limited, they also represent the 
‘Extended Closed Group’. 
 
Set out below is a consolidated statement of comprehensive income and a summary of movements in consolidated 
retained profits for the year ended 30 June 2014 of the Closed Group consisting of Lindsay Australia Limited, Lindsay 
Brothers Holdings Pty Ltd, Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers Management Pty Ltd, Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd 
and Skinner Rural Pty Ltd. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Statement of comprehensive income   

Revenues 311,134 283,465 

Other income 83 131 
   

Purchases and changes in inventories (71,525) (67,886) 

Fuel and oil costs (40,663) (33,585) 

Repairs and maintenance  (13,762) (12,930) 

Subcontractors (49,429) (41,780) 

Employee benefits  (73,434) (65,073) 

Depreciation and amortisation (639) (796) 

Finance costs (620) (619) 

Insurance (1,537) (1,844) 

Management fees (17,600) (17,000) 

Pallet charges (1,867) (1,914) 

Operating lease rental (6,102) (5,828) 

Professional fees (1,293) (1,910) 

Other expenses  (23,462) (22,186) 

Profit before income tax 9,284 10,245 

Income tax expense (2,828) (3,113) 

Profit for the year 6,456 7,132 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 

 Total comprehensive income for the year 6,456 7,132 
   

Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings / (accumulated 
losses) 

  

Retained earnings/accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year 1,928 (3,010) 

Profit for the year 6,456 7,132 

Dividends provided for or paid (4,769) (2,194) 

Retained earnings at the end of the financial year 3,615 1,928 
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32. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (Continued) 
 
(b) Statement of financial position 

 

Set out below is a consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014 of the Closed Group consisting of 
Lindsay Australia Limited, Lindsay Brothers Holdings Pty Ltd, Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers 
Management Pty Ltd, Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd, and Skinner Rural Pty Ltd. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 17,152 9,953 

Trade and other receivables 42,996 41,554 

Inventories 13,291 10,680 

Other 4,854 3,843 

Total current assets 78,293 66,030 
   

Non-current assets   

Other receivables 19,029 16,460 

Available-for-sale financial assets 38 38 

Property, plant and equipment 5,071 4,846 

Deferred tax assets 828 860 

Intangible assets 7,706 7,810 

Total non-current assets 32,672 30,014 

   

Total assets 110,965 96,044 
   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables 26,362 24,883 

Borrowings 5,388 3,138 

Provisions 5,455 4,975 

Current tax liabilities 2,257 1,462 

Other 7,318 8,055 

Total current liabilities  46,780 42,513 
   

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings 4,433 4,743 

Provisions 1,133 880 

Other 370 449 

Total non-current liabilities 5,936 6,072 

   

Total liabilities 52,716 48,585 

   

Net assets 58,249 47,459 
   

Equity   

Contributed equity 54,143 45,040 

Reserves 491 491 

Retained profits 3,615 1,928 

Total equity 58,249 47,459 
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33. COMMITMENTS 
 

Finance lease commitments 
 

Finance lease liabilities are payable exclusive of GST as follows: 
 

 
Minimum 

lease 
payments 

Interest Principal 
Minimum 

lease 
payments 

Interest Principal 

 
2014 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Less than one year 14,119 2,600 11,519 16,068 2,426 13,642 

Between one and five 
years 

43,538 3,482 40,056 36,009 3,522 32,487 

 57,657 6,082 51,575 52,077 5,948 46,129 

 
Finance leases comprise leases of items of plant and equipment under normal commercial finance lease terms and 
conditions.  Finance leases do not contain any contingent rental components.  No items subject to finance lease are 
subleased.  Under the leases there are no escalation clauses and there is an option to acquire the leased assets at the 
end of the term. 
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Operating Lease Commitments   

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the financial 
statements are payable inclusive of GST as follows: 

  

-  not later than 1 year 4,802 4,369 

-  later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 7,798 8,097 

-  later than 5 years 1,621 2,733 

 14,221 15,199 

 
Operating leases primarily comprise leases of premises under normal commercial operating lease terms and 
conditions.  These include rentals, in certain cases, being subject to periodic review for market and/or for CPI 
increases as well as options for renewal. 
 
There are no significant items subject to operating leases that are subleased.   
 

 
2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

Capital Commitments   

Commitments for capital expenditure (property, plant and equipment) contracted for 
but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows: 

10,288 4,163 

 
Distribution Agreement  
 

On 13 July 2009 the Group executed a Distribution Agreement with Orora Limited (Orora).  The agreement provides for 
the Group to exclusively purchase corrugated packaging products from Orora for resale to its customers throughout 
Australia. The term of the agreement is to 30 June 2016 with options for extension.  The Group and Orora will work co-
operatively to develop sales throughout Australia.  
 
The agreement provides that a range of rebates are payable for achieving certain levels of sales in each financial year. 
The agreement also provides a framework for price increases, product delivery times and lease of carton erection 
machines.  Orora paid the Group a signing fee of $2.25 million on execution.  Interest is payable on the signing fee on 
an annual basis.  The fee is repayable at the end of the term unless rolled over into a new agreement.  At the 
company’s option (and subject where necessary to the company obtaining any necessary shareholder approvals), the 
interest payments and the repayment of the signing fee may be discharged by the issue of shares in the company. 
 
The agreement also provides a right of first refusal for Orora to buy the Rural business during the term of the 
agreement on terms no less favourable than those that would be offered to a third party, should the company wish to 
sell or assign its interest in the Rural business. 
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2014 

$’000 
2013 

$’000 

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES   

Guarantees to secure lease obligations 1,320 1,055 

 
Cross guarantees have been given as described in Note 32. 
 
From time to time the consolidated entity is subject to claims and litigation during the normal course of business. The 
Directors have given consideration to such matters and are of the opinion that there are no further material contingent 
liabilities as at the reporting date that are likely to arise.   
 
Other than above to the Directors’ knowledge no matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the year that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years. 
 

35. PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION 
 
Information relating to Lindsay Australia Limited is as follows: 
 

 
2014 
$’000 

2013 
$’000 

Summary financial information   

Statement of financial position   

Current assets 16,826 8,606 

Total assets 207,897 164,165 
   

Current liabilities 142,153 109,468 

Total liabilities 146,849 114,528 
   

Issued capital 54,143 45,040 

Retained profits 6,414 4,106 

Share based payments reserve 491 491 

Total shareholders’ equity 61,048 49,637 
   

Profit of the parent entity 7,077 6,120 

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity 7,077 6,120 
   

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity - - 

Contractual commitments - - 

 
Guarantees entered into by parent entity 

 
The parent entity has provided financial guarantees in respect of bank overdrafts, financial leases, and bank loans of 
subsidiaries amounting to $25,953,000 (2013: $24,012,000) secured by registered mortgages over property and other 
assets. The parent entity has also given unsecured guarantees in respect of financial leases of subsidiaries amounting 
to $38,368,000 (2013: $38,180,000). 
 
In addition, there are cross guarantees given by Lindsay Australia Limited, Lindsay Brothers Holdings Limited, Lindsay 
Transport Pty Ltd, Lindsay Brothers Management Pty Ltd, Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd and Skinner Rural Pty Ltd as 
described in Note 32.  No deficiencies of assets exist in any of these companies.  No liability has been recognised in 
relation to these financial guarantees in accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(u) as the present value of the 
difference in net cash flows is not significant. 
 

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Issue of Shares 
 

On 1 July 2014 the Company issued 266,915 shares at 32.94 cents per share pursuant to the Distribution Agreement 
to Orora Limited in satisfaction of interest owing on the signing fee. 
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37. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
Two subsidiaries of the Company, Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd and Lindsay Rural Pty Ltd have brought proceedings in 
the Supreme Court of Queensland against BCI Lawyers.  The proceedings relate to BCI Lawyers involvement with 
certain security arrangements which Lindsay Transport Pty Ltd and Lindsay rural Pty Ltd sought over assets and 
undertakings of a major customer and its associated entities and related persons. 
 
The proceedings allege negligence and breach of contract in respect of the security arrangements and is quantified up 
to a total of approximately $2.6 million plus interest and costs. 
 
Given the inherent uncertainties associated with legal proceedings no value has been attributed to the proceedings. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 
In the Directors’ opinion: 
 
(a) the attached financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001; and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements, and 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 

and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 
 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

 become due and payable; and 
 
(c) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed 

Group identified in Note 32 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, 
subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 32. 

 
Note 1 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
 
The Directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 
 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 

 
 
John F Pressler 
Chairman 
 
Brisbane, Queensland 
27 August 2014 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Lindsay Australia Limited 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Lindsay Australia Limited, which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 
declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or 
from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also 
state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.   
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

a) the financial report of Lindsay Australia Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 
ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b) the consolidated financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 11 to 16 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 
June 2014.  The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Lindsay Australia Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014 complies with 
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

PITCHER PARTNERS 
 
 
 
 
R.C.N Walker 
Partner 
 
Brisbane, Queensland 
27 August 2014 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
The board of Directors of Lindsay Australia Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated 
entity. The board guides and monitors the business and affairs of Lindsay Australia Limited on behalf of the 
shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
Lindsay Australia Limited’s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Corporate Governance 
Council’s principles and recommendations, which are as follows: 
 
Principle 1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
Principle 2. Structure the board to add value 
Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
Principle 5. Make timely and balanced disclosure 
Principle 6. Respect the rights of shareholders 
Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk 
Principle 8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
Lindsay Australia Limited’s Corporate Governance practices recognise the Company’s market capitalisation and the 
complexity of its operations. 
 
Departures from the Council’s recommendations are as follows: 
 
Principle  1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight – Recognise and publish the 

respective roles and responsibilities of the board and management. 
 

During the financial year the Company was governed in accordance with its Corporate 
Governance Charter adopted by the board.  The Corporate Governance Charter is 
published on the Company’s website.   
 

Recommendation 1.1 The company should establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegates to 
senior executives and disclose those functions. 

 
 The Corporate Governance Board charter reserves powers for the board.   Functions not 

reserved to the Board are delegated to senior management. 
 
Recommendation 1.2 The company should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior 

executives.  
    
 The process and outcomes of the evaluation is disclosed in the Remuneration Report 

contained in the Directors’ Report.  The Remuneration Committee Charter also discloses 
additional information in respect to evaluation the performance of senior executives. 

 
Principle 2. Structure the board to add value – Have a board of an effective composition, size, and 

commitment to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties. 
 
Recommendation 2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. 
 
 The Company has not complied with this recommendation. The following Directors are not 

considered to be independent: 
 - G D Farrell – substantial shareholder, 
 - M K Lindsay – Chief Executive Officer, and 
 - L R Hancock – a principal of a material professional advisor. 

 
 The independent Directors are: 
 - J F Pressler, 
 - R A Anderson. 
  
 
 The board does not consider the expense of increasing the number of independent 

directors so that a majority of independent directors is obtained is justified. 
 
Recommendation  2.2 The chair should be an independent director. 
 

 The Company complies with this recommendation.  Mr J.F. Pressler, an independent 
director, is the Chair. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Continued) 
 
Recommendation 2.3 The role of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual. 
 

 The Company complies with this recommendation. Mr M.K. Lindsay is the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

 

Recommendation 2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. 
 
 The Company does not have a nomination committee. The board believes that due to the 

Company’s relatively small size a nominations committee is not necessary as the board can 
undertake all functions normally delegated to a nomination committee.  The Corporate 
Governance Board Charter contains procedures for the appointment and resignation of 
Directors. 

 
Recommendation 2.5 The company should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its 

committees and individual directors. 
 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Charter details the procedures for performance 
reviews and evaluation. 

 
Principle  3. Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 

 
Recommendation 3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the codes as to: 
 
 3.1.1 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity, 
 
 3.1.2 the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the 

reasonable expectations of their stakeholders, and 
 

3.1.3 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices. 

 
 A formal Code of Ethics forms part of the Corporate Governance Charter. 
 
Recommendation 3.2 Disclose the policy concerning diversity. 
 
 The Diversity Policy is published on the company’s web site.  The Board has established 

the following objectives in relation to gender diversity.  The intention is to achieve the 
objectives over time as positions become available.  The Board notes that some positions 
within the company have time and physical demands that may make these jobs traditionally 
unattractive to women. 

 

 Objective 2014 2013 

Percentage of women in company’s workforce 15% 12.12% 12% 

Percentage of women in management positions 20% 19.82% 17% 

 

The company’s Workplace Gender Equality Act public report for 2014 is available on the 
company’s website. 
 

Principle  4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting – have a structure to independently verify and 

safeguard the integrity of the company’s financial reporting. 
 
Recommendation  4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. 
 
 The Company has established an Audit Committee. 
 
Recommendation  4.2 Structure the audit committee so that it consists of: 
 

 only non-executive directors, 

 a majority of independent directors, 

 an independent chairperson, who is not chairperson of the board, and 

 at least three members. 
 

The Company complies with this recommendation other than the requirement to have a 
majority of independent Directors. There are equal independent and non-independent 
Directors.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Continued) 
 
Recommendation 4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. 
 
 The Company has a formal charter for the Audit Committee. 
 
Principle  5.  Make timely and balanced disclosure – Promote timely and balanced disclosure of all 

material matters concerning the company. 
 
Recommendation 5.1 Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 

Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for 
that compliance. 

 
 The Company complied with the continuous disclosure requirements of Chapter 3 of the 

Australian Securities Exchange Listing Rules.  The Corporate Governance Charter contains 
additional requirements.  The continuous disclosure obligations are reviewed at each board 
meeting. 

 
Principle  6. Respect the rights of shareholders – and facilitate the effective exercise of those rights. 

 
Recommendation 6.1 Design and disclose a communication strategy to promote effective communication with 

shareholders and encourage participation at general meetings. 
 
 The Corporate Governance Charter contains the requirements of this obligation. The 

Company complied with the Corporations Act 2001 and the requirements of the ASX Listing 
Rules during the year. 

 
Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk – establish a sound system of risk oversight and 

management and internal control. 
 
Recommendation 7.1 The company should establish policies for the oversight and management of material 

business risk and disclose a summary of those policies. 
 
 Part of the responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee is to monitor risk.  The 

Company does not have an internal audit function.  The board considers that due to the 
relatively small size of the Company such a function would not be cost effective. The 
company has policies and procedures to monitor and manage material risks.  Details of 
financial risks are provided in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.  Policies and procedures 
have also been established for fatigue management, vehicle maintenance, workplace 
health and safety and inventory control.  A business risks checklist is reviewed at each 
meeting of the board. 

 
Recommendation 7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk management and 

internal control system to manage the company’s material business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of its 
material business risks. 

 
 Management are required to report on material business risks at each meeting of Directors. 
 The Corporate Governance Charter is published on the Company’s website. 
 
Recommendation  7.3 The chief executive officer and the chief financial officer should state to the board in writing 

that: 
 
 7.3.1 the statement given in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is 

founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 
control which implements the policies adopted by the board, and 

 
 7.3.2 the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is 

operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.   
 
 The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided the written 

statements required by 7.3.1 and 7.3.2. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Continued) 
 
Principle  8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly – ensure that the level and composition of 

remuneration is sufficient and reasonable and that its relationship to performance is clear. 
 

The remuneration policy is disclosed in the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ 
Report. There were no material changes to that policy during the year.  Due to the relatively 
small size of the Company the only direct link between remuneration and performance of 
the Company for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Executive staff is by the potential 
issue of options over shares.  There were no employee options on issue at 30 June 2014 
and 30 June 2013 held by key management personnel.  At any review the performance of 
the Company and the contribution by particular executives form part of the process.  Details 
of the remuneration of the Directors and the key management personnel of the Group is 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report.  

Recommendation 8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. 
 
  The Company has established a Remuneration Committee.  The Remuneration Committee 

has a formal charter. 
 
Recommendation 8.2 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of 

executives. 
 
 The guidelines for non-executive director remuneration published by the Council are: 
 

8.2.1 Non-executive Directors should normally be remunerated by way of fees (in the 
form of cash, non-cash benefits, superannuation contributions or salary sacrifice 
into equity); they should not participate in schemes designed for the remuneration 
of executives. 

 
 8.2.2 Non-executive Directors should not receive options or bonus payments. 
 
 8.2.3 Non-executive Directors should not be provided with retirement benefits other than 

statutory superannuation. 
 

 The Company complies with this recommendation.  Refer also to the Remuneration Report 
contained in the Directors’ Report. 

 
For further information on corporate governance policies adopted by Lindsay Australia Limited, refer to our website: 
www.lindsayaustralia.com.au 
 
Structure of the Board 

 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of Director held by each Director in office at the date of the 
annual report are included in the Directors’ Report. Directors of Lindsay Australia Limited are considered to be 
independent when they are independent of management and free from any material business or other relationship that 
could interfere with – or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and 
independent judgement. 
 
In the context of Director independence, a factor is considered “material” if it is greater than 5% of either sales or 
purchases of the Group. 
 
In accordance with the definition of independence detailed on the Company’s website, the following Directors of 
Lindsay Australia Limited are considered to be independent: 
 
J F Pressler 
R A Anderson 
 
There are procedures in place, agreed by the board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Continued) 
 
The term in office held by each Director at the date of this report is as follows: 
 

Name Term in Office  Name Term in Office 

J F Pressler 18 Years  G D Farrell   9 Years 

M K Lindsay 18 Years  L R Hancock 12 Years 

R A Anderson 12 Years    

 
For additional details regarding board appointments, please refer to the Company’s Corporate Governance Charter. 
 
Nomination Committee 

 
The Company does not have a nomination committee.  The Directors consider that due to the relatively small size of 
the Company it is not necessary to have a nomination committee.  Functions that are usually performed by the 
nomination committee are performed by the board. 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 

 
The board has established an audit and risk committee, which operates under a charter approved by the board.  The 
charter is contained in the company’s Corporate Governance Statement which is available on the company’s website. 
It is the board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework and risk identification process exists 
within the entity.  This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant 
business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability of 
financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking of operational key performance 
indicators.  The board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of a framework of 
internal controls and ethical standards for the management of the consolidated entity to the audit and risk committee. 
 
The committee also provides the board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for 
inclusion in the financial reports.  All members of the audit and risk committee are non-executive Directors.  There are 
an equal number of independent and non-independent Directors. 
 
The members of the audit committee during the year were: 
 
 R A Anderson (Independent Director) Chair 

J F Pressler (Independent Director) 
 L R Hancock 
 G D Farrell 
 
For details of the qualifications of members of the audit and risk committee refer to the Directors’ Report. 
 
For details on the number of meetings of the audit and risk committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the Directors’ Report. 
 
Remuneration Committee 

 
The board has established a Remuneration Committee, which operates under a charter established by the board. The 
charter is contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement which is available on the company’s website. 
It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum shareholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and 
executive team by remunerating Directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant 
employment market conditions.  To assist in achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and 
amount of executive Directors’ and officers’ remuneration to the Company’s financial and operational performance.  
The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are:  
 

 retention and motivation of key executives, 

 attraction of quality management to the Company, and  

 performance incentives which allow executives to share the rewards of the success of Lindsay Australia Limited. 
 
For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for each of the key 
management personnel during the year and for all Directors, refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the 
Directors’ Report. In relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments, discretion is exercised 
by the board, having regard to the overall performance of Lindsay Australia Limited and the performance of the 
individual during the period. 
 
There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to non-executive Directors. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Continued) 
 
 
The board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves and 
the chief executive officer and the key management personnel.  The board has established a remuneration committee, 
comprising four non-executive Directors.  Members of the remuneration committee throughout the year were: 
 
G D Farrell Chair  
J F Pressler 
R A Anderson 
L R Hancock   
 
For details on the number of meetings of the remuneration committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the Directors’ Report. 
 
Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Committee 

 
The board has established an environmental and occupational health and safety committee. It is the board’s 
responsibility to ensure that the Company observes all regulatory compliance, is proactive in achieving environmental 
outcomes consistent with sustainable development, and to provide a safe workplace by identifying and managing risks 
in the workplace.  The board has delegated the responsibility for these functions to the environmental and occupational 
health and safety committee.  The members of the committee during the year were: 
 
L R Hancock Chair 
J P Pressler   
R A Anderson   
G D Farrell   
M K Lindsay 
 
For details on the number of meetings of the environmental and occupational health and safety committee held during 
the year and the attendees at those meetings, refer to the Directors’ Report.   
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION  
 
Information relating to security holders as at 31 July 2014. 
 

SHARES 

Distribution of Shareholders 

 
Number of 

Shareholders 
Number of 

Shares 

1- 1,000 77 21,671 

1,001 – 5,000 181 569,469 

5,001 – 10,000 164 1,357,174 

10,001 – 100,000 552 20,018,789 

100,001 and over 155 231,769,120 

Total 1,129 253,736,223 

 
Number of holdings less than a marketable parcel of shares – 81   (1,334 shares) 
 

Top Twenty Shareholders 

Name 
Number of 

Shares 
% of Issued 

Shares 

Washington H Soul Pattison & Company Limited 46,864,268 18.47 

Mulawa Holdings Pty Ltd 27,794,450 10.95 

Orora Limited 27,049,188 10.66 

Ankla Pty Ltd 14,738,442 5.81 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 14,246,475 5.61 

Thomas Kelsall Lindsay & Thomas Glen Lindsay (Lindsay Brothers S/F A/C) 11,331,069 4.47 

BKI Investment Company Limited 6,462,328 2.55 

Lindsay Super Co Pty Ltd (Lindsay Family S/F A/C) 6,219,739 2.45 

Sandhurst Trustees Ltd<Endeavour Asset MGMT MDA A/C> 6,191,632 2.44 

K & D Lindsay Pty Ltd (D Lindsay Family A/C) 3,222,148 1.27 

Milton Corporation Limited 3,200,000 1.20 

ABN AMRO Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd (Custodian A/C) 3,140,671 1.24 

Heading East Pty Ltd (Heading East 2012 S/F A/C) 2,549,506 1.00 

Greta Marjorie Lindsay (The Greta Lindsay No 2 A/C) 2,295,218 .90 

Proco Pty Ltd (The Cosoff Super Fund Acc) 2,100,000 .83 

Matthew Singleton 2,047,549 .81 

Janala Pty Ltd 1,919,626 .76 

LR & SP Hancock (L&S Super Fund Account) 1,894,621 .75 

Maria Gail Lindsay 1,810,000 .71 

Yesor Pty Ltd (The Orr Superannuation Fund A/C) 1,800,000 .71 

 186,876,930 73.65 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
Substantial Shareholders 

 
The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 617B of the 
Corporations Act 2001 are: 
 

Name Number of Shares % of Issued Shares 

Mulawa Holdings Pty Ltd 29,714,076 11.7 

Orora Limited 26,782,273 10.6 

Washington H Soul Pattison & Company Limited 46,864,268 18.5 

Thomas Kelsall Lindsay 13,897,235 5.5 

Thomas Glen Lindsay 13,870,139 5.5 

Mizikovsky Group 14,974,806 5.9 

 
Voting Rights of Ordinary Shares 

 
The holders of ordinary shares in the Company are entitled at any general meeting, either in person of by proxy, on 
a show of hands, to one vote, and on a poll to one vote for each fully paid share. 
 
On-market Buy Back of Shares 
 

There is no current on-market buyback of shares. 
 
 


